

Aus dem Institut für Klinische Chemie und Laboratoriumsmedizin Direktor: Prof. Dr. med. Triantafyllos Chavakis

Role of eosinophils in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis

Dissertationsschrift

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.)

vorgelegt

der Medizinischen Fakultät Carl Gustav Carus

der Technischen Universität Dresden

von

Mgr. Klára Ruppová

aus Děčín, Czech Republic

Dresden 2017

- 1. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. med. Triantafyllos Chavakis
- 2. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. med. Ali El-Armouche

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 06.12.2017

gez: Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Henning Morawietz Vorsitzender der Promotionskommission

Summary

Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) is the rodent model of multiple sclerosis (MS), a chronic autoimmune neuroinflammatory disease that has a devastating impact on various neurological functions of the patients. The hallmarks of both, MS and EAE, are neuroinflammation, demyelination and neuroaxonal degeneration. Various types of lymphoid and myeloid cells were shown to infiltrate the central nervous system and to participate in disease pathology. However, the role of eosinophil granulocytes has been less explored thus far. An early study showed that eosinophils infiltrate into the spinal cord of EAE mice and suggested their role in the disease progression. Recently, it was reported that eosinophils can play a protective role against EAE when mice are treated with an extract from helminths. Furthermore, it was shown that EAE development is not altered in mice deficient for interleukin-5, an important eosinophil pro-survival factor. Taken together, the role of eosinophils in EAE is currently unclear and needs to be investigated in detail.

In the present study, we use the active model of EAE, whereby we immunized the C57BL/6 mouse strain with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide emulsified in the complete Freund's adjuvant, in order to study a possible contribution of eosinophils to the disease pathology. Using the flow cytometry and RT-qPCR analysis of the spinal cord, we show that eosinophils infiltrate into the tissue in the course of EAE. The infiltration is likely driven by eosinophil chemoattractants, such as eotaxin-1, as the concentration of the latter was increased in the spinal cord during EAE, as shown on mRNA and protein level. Moreover, detailed flow cytometry analysis of spinal cord eosinophils revealed that they show signs of activation, namely an increase in CD11b and decrease in CCR-3 surface expression. Furthermore, we observed signs of degranulation of spinal cord eosinophils in EAE which was measured as a decrease of the side scatter parameter and an upregulation of CD63 surface expression. These data suggest a potential role of eosinophils in the pathology of EAE. In order to elucidate whether eosinophils are important for the disease development, eosinophil-deficient mice were subjected to EAE and the clinical development of the disease was observed. For this purpose, we used two independent models of eosinophil deficiency - AdblGATA1 and interleukin-5-depleted mice. AdblGATA1 mice are a genetically manipulated mouse strain bearing a deletion in GATA1 promoter that causes a specific depletion of eosinophils. Interestingly, clinical development of EAE was not affected in these mice when compared to their wild-type controls. As a next step, we depleted eosinophils by injecting wild-type mice with an antibody against the eosinophil pro-survival factor interleukin-5 in order to reduce eosinophil numbers in the effector phase of EAE. In accordance with the result from the experiment with AdbIGATA1 mice, EAE progression was not altered in the eosinophildepleted mice when compared to mice that were injected with an isotype control antibody. Further, we analyzed the neuroinflammation and demyelination in the spinal cord of

 Δ dblGATA1 mice subjected to EAE. Specifically, the infiltration of inflammatory cell populations, including CD4 and CD8 T cells, neutrophils and macrophages, was assessed by flow cytometry. In agreement with the unchanged clinical EAE development, inflammatory cell infiltration was not affected in Δ dblGATA1 mice. Furthermore, we analyzed expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the spinal cord of Δ dblGATA1 mice subjected to EAE in order to better characterize the inflammatory status. No significant changes were detected further confirming that eosinophils do not contribute to neuroinflammation in EAE. Finally, we assessed the demyelination in the spinal cord of Δ dblGATA1 EAE mice using luxol fast blue staining to detect myelin. In accordance with the unaffected clinical development and inflammatory status, we did not observe any difference in the spinal cord demyelination in Δ dblGATA1 mice when compared to their wild-type littermates.

Taken together, although eosinophils infiltrate into the spinal cord of EAE mice and are activated and degranulate therein, they are dispensable for EAE development.

Zusammenfassung

Experimentelle Autoimmunencephalomyelitis (EAE) ist das Nagetiermodell für Multiple Sklerose (MS), eine chronische, neuroinflammatorische Autoimmunerkrankung, welche drastische Auswirkungen auf zahlreiche neurologische Funktionen des Patienten hat. Charakteristisch für beide, MS und EAE, sind Neuroinflammation, Demyelinisierung und neuroaxonale Degeneration. Es wurde gezeigt, dass verschiedene Typen lymphoider und myeloider Zellen das zentrale Nervensystem infiltrieren und zur Pathologie der Krankheit beitragen. Die Rolle von eosinophilen Granulocyten dabei wurde bis jetzt jedoch noch nicht genau untersucht. Eine frühe Studie zeigte, dass Eosinophile das Rückenmark von EAE-Mäusen infiltrieren und legt nahe, dass sie eine Rolle beim Fortschreiten der Krankheit spielen. Kürzlich wurde berichtet, dass Eosinophile eine schützende Rolle gegen EAE spielen, wenn Mäuse mit einem Helminthextrakt behandelt wurden. Außerdem wurde gezeigt, dass sich der Verlauf von EAE in Interleukin-5 – ein wichtiger Überlebensfaktor für Eosinophile -defizienten Mäusen nicht verändert. Insgesamt, ist die Rolle von Eosinophilen in EAE derzeit unklar und bedarf detaillierter Untersuchung.

In der vorliegenden Studie nutzen wir das aktive EAE-Modell, wobei wir Mäuse des C57Bl/6 Stammes mit MOG₃₅₋₅₅ Peptid emulgiert in Komplettmedium Freund's Adjuvant injizieren, um die mögliche Beteiligung von Eosinophilen am pathologischen Verlauf von EAE zu erforschen. Mit Hilfe von Durchflusszytometrie und RT-qPCR Analyse des Rückenmarks zeigen wir, dass im Verlauf von EAE Eosinophile in das Gewebe infiltrieren. Die Infiltration wird wahrscheinlich durch chemische Lockstoffe von Eosinophilen, wie Eotaxin-1, angetrieben, da dessen Konzentration im Rückenmark auf mRNA- und Proteinebene während der EAE erhöht war. Weiterhin legte detaillierte Durchflusszytometrieanalyse von Eosinophilen des Rückenmarks dar, dass diese Zeichen von Aktivierung aufweisen, namentlich ein Anstieg in CD11b und eine Abnahme von CCR-3 Oberflächenexpression. Außerdem beobachteten wir Anzeichen von Degranulation der Rückenmarkseosinophilen bei EAE, was über eine Abnahme des Seitwärtsstreulichtparameters und einer Hochregulierung von CD63 Oberflächenexpression bestimmt wurde. Diese Daten legen eine potentielle Rolle von Eosinophilen in der Pathologie von EAE nahe. Um festzustellen, ob Eosinophile wichtig für das Fortschreiten der Krankheit sind, wurde EAE in Eosinophildefizienten Mäusen induziert und die klinische Entwicklung der Krankheit aufgezeichnet. Dafür wurden zwei unabhängige Modelle der Eosinophildefizienz herangezogen -∆dblGATA1 und Interleukin-5-dezimierte Mäuse. ∆dblGATA1 Mäuse gehören zu einem genetisch manipulierten Mausstamm, welcher eine Deletion innerhalb des GATA1 Promotors aufweist, die eine spezifische Dezimierung von Eosinophilen hervorruft. Interessanterweise war die klinische Entwicklung von EAE im Vergleich zu den Wildtypkontrollen unverändert. Im nächsten Schritt dezimierten wir Eosinophile durch Injektion von Antikörpern gegen den Eosinophilüberlebensfaktor Interleukin-5 in Wildtypmäusen, um die Anzahl von Eosinophilen in der Effektorphase von EAE zu reduzieren. Im Einklang mit dem Ergebnis vom Experiment mit AdbIGATA1 Mäusen war das Fortschreiten der EAE in den Eosinophil-dezimierten Mäusen im Vergleich zu den Mäusen, die mit dem Isotypkontrollantikörper injiziert wurden, unverändert. Weiterhin untersuchten wir Neuroinflammation und Demyelinisierung des Rückenmarks von ∆dblGATA1 Mäusen, die dem EAE Modell unterzogen wurden. Insbesondere die Infiltration von inflammatorischen Zellpopulationen, inklusive CD4- und CD8- T-Zellen, Neutrophilen und Makrophagen wurden mit Hilfe von Durchflusszytometrie analysiert. In Übereinstimmung mit der unveränderten klinischen EAE Entwicklung war die inflammatorische Zellinfiltration in AdblGATA1 Mäusen nicht beeinträchtigt. Des Weiteren analysierten wir die Expression von proinflammatorischen Zytokinen im Rückenmark von ∆dblGATA1 Mäusen während EAE, um den inflammatorischen Status besser zu charakterisieren. Dabei wurden keine signifikanten Veränderungen entdeckt, was zusätzlich darauf hindeutet, dass Eosinophile nicht zur Neuroinflammation bei EAE beitragen. Schlussendlich, untersuchten wir die Demyelinisierung im Rückenmark von AdblGATA1 Mäusen. Im Einklang mit der unbeeinträchtigten klinischen Entwicklung und dem unveränderten inflammatorischen Status, können wir Unterschiede in keine der Demyelinisierung des Rückenmarks von AdbIGATA1 Mäusen im Vergleich mit Wildtypwurfgeschwistern feststellen.

Zusammenfassend sind Eosinophile nicht entscheidend an der Entwicklung von EAE beteiligt, obwohl sie in das Rückenmark von EAE-Mäusen einwandern, dort aktiviert werden und degranulieren.

Table of contents

LIST OF FIGURES		9
ABBRE	EVIATIONS	10
1 IN	TRODUCTION	12
1.1	Multiple sclerosis	12
1.1.1	Risk factors for MS	13
1.1.2	Immunopathology of MS	13
1.1.3	Neuroaxonal damage in MS	18
1.2	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis	19
1.2.1	Active EAE	20
1.2.2	Passive EAE	21
1.3	Eosinophils	22
1.3.1	Immunomodulatory functions of eosinophils	22
1.3.2	Eosinophil-derived granule proteins	24
1.3.3	Mouse models of eosinophil deficiency	25
1.4	Eosinophils in MS and EAE	26
1.5	Aim of the study	27
2 M/	ATERIAL AND METHODS	28
2.1	Buffers and media	28
2.2	Місе	28
2.3	EAE induction and scoring	28
2.4	Isolation of leukocytes from spinal cord	29
2.5	Flow cytometry analysis and cell sorting	29
2.5.1	Cell counting for flow cytometry analysis	30
2.5.2	Intracellular staining for IFNy	30
2.6	Molecular biology methods	31
2.6.1	RNA isolation	31
2.6.2	Reverse transcription	32

2.	6.3	Real-time quantitative PCR	32
2.7	E	Eotaxin-1 ELISA	34
2.8	F	Recall response assay	34
2.	8.1	Differentiation of dendritic cells from bone marrow	35
2.	8.2	T cell isolation	35
2.	8.3	Recall response assay	35
2.9	L	uxol Fast Blue staining	36
2.10	S	Statistical analysis	37
3	RE	SULTS	38
3.1	E	Eosinophils infiltrate into the spinal cord in the course of EAE	38
3.	1.1E	Eotaxin-1 is a possible chemokine attracting eosinophils to the spinal cord in	the course of
	E	AE	40
3.2	S	Spinal cord eosinophils are activated and degranulate during EAE	41
3.3	E	Eosinophils are dispensable for EAE development	44
3.	3.1	No difference in inflammation in the spinal cord of Δ dblGATA1 mice	45
3.	3.2	No difference in demyelination in the spinal cord of Δ dblGATA1 mice	48
3.	3.3	No difference in recall response in Δ dblGATA1 mice	49
4	DIS	SCUSSION	51
5	LIT	ERATURE	55
6	DE	CLARATIONS	71
7	AC	KNOWLEDGEMENTS	74

List of figures

Figure 1 Initiation of MS (from Dendrou et al., 2015)	14
Figure 2 EAE models in mice (adapted from Rangachari and Kuchroo, 2013)	21
Figure 3 Immunomodulatory and effector functions of eosinophils (adopted from et al., 2016)	m Long 24
Figure 4 Eosinophils infiltrate into the spinal cord in the course of EAE	39
Figure 5 Eotaxin-1 concentration increases in the spinal cord of EAE mice	41
Figure 6 Spinal cord-infiltrating eosinophils are activated in EAE	42
Figure 7 Spinal cord-infiltrating eosinophils degranulate in EAE	44
Figure 8 Eosinophils are not necessary for EAE development	45
Figure 9 Gating strategy for inflammatory cell FACS analysis	46
Figure 10 No difference in inflammatory cell infiltration in Δ dblGATA1 mice	47
Figure 11 No difference in proinflammatory cytokines in Δ dblGATA1 mice	48
Figure 12 Demyelination in ∆dblGATA1 mice	49
Figure 13 No difference in recall response in ∆dblGATA1 mice	50

Abbreviations

AMPA	alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic
APRIL	a proliferation-inducing ligand
ASIC1	acid-sensing ion channel-1
AUC	area under the curve
BCA	bicinchoninic acid assay
BSA	bovine serum albumine
CCR3	C-C chemokine receptor type 3
cDNA	complementary DNA
CFA	complete Freund's adjuvant
CIS	clinically isolated syndrome
CNS	central nervous system
CSF	cerebrospinal fluid
dNTPs	deoxynucleotides
DTA	diphtheria toxin A
EAE	experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
EDN	eosinophil-derived neurotoxin
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
eMBP	eosinophil major basic protein
EPX	eosinophil peroxidase
FACS	fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FBS	fetal bovine serum
GATA1	GATA-binding factor 1
G-CSF	granulocyte colony-stimulating factor
GM-CSF	granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor
HLA	human leukocyte antigen
IDO	indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase
IFNγ	interferon γ
lgA	immunoglobulin A
IL	interleukin
IL2RA	interleukin-2 receptor A
IL7R	interleukin-7 receptor
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase

LFB	luxol fast blue
MACS	magnetic-activated cell sorting
MBP	myelin basic protein
MHCII	major histocompatibility complex II
MOG	myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein
mRNA	messenger RNA
MS	multiple sclerosis
NK	natural killer
NMO	neuromylelitis optica
NOD	non-obese diabetic
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PFA	paraformaldehyde
PLP	proteolipid protein
PPMS	primary progressive multiple sclerosis
RNS	reactive nitrogen species
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RPMI medium	Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium
RPS29	40S ribosomal protein S29
RRMS	relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis
RT-qPCR	real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction
SEM	standard error of mean
SPMS	secondary progressive multiple sclerosis
SSC	side scatter
TCR	T-cell receptor
TGFβ	transforming growth factor β
Th1	T helper 1
Th17	T helper 17
TLR2	toll-like receptor 2
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TRAIL	tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
Tregs	regulatory T cells
TRMP4	transient receptor potential melastatin 4
WT	wild-type

1 Introduction

1.1 Multiple sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an autoimmune neuroinflammatory demyelinating disease affecting about 2.5 million people world-wide. The majority of the patients are women and the onset of the disease is typically around 30 years of age. The pathology of the disease is characterized by lesions (also called plaques), which are located in the central nervous system (CNS), and are linked with the infiltration of immune inflammatory cells, including predominantly macrophages, CD8 and CD4 T cells, B cells and plasma cells. These cells trigger CNS inflammation that leads to the activation of resident glial cells, demyelination of neurons and subsequent neuroaxonal damage. As the disease progresses, the impaired nerve conduction in various regions of the brain and spinal cord causes a range of neurological dysfunctions including motor incoordination, weakness, numbness, and sensory and cognitive disturbances that often lead to a severe disability, thereby, substantially worsening the quality of life (Dendrou et al., 2015).

Based on the clinical and magnetic resonance imaging activity and the clinical disease progression, MS is classified into four subtypes. The majority of the MS patients (approximately 85%) suffer from the relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS) characterized by attacks of the neurological dysfunctions (relapses) followed by periods of complete or partial recovery (remissions). RRMS often progresses into the secondary progressive MS (SPMS) distinguished by a gradual worsening of the symptoms. In approximately 10 % of the cases, MS shows the steady worsening phenotype already from the onset of symptoms. This MS subtype is classified as primary progressive MS (PPMS). The fourth subtype of MS is the clinically isolated syndrome (CIS) and represents the first clinical manifestation of MS but has not met the MS criteria of dissemination in time, yet (Lublin et al., 2014).

1.1.1 Risk factors for MS

The exact cause of MS remains unknown. However, both, genetic and environmental risk factors were described to be involved in the disease etiology. Among the genetic risk factors, mostly immune system-related genes were identified. Namely, variants of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class II were suggested to have the largest effect on MS susceptibility, possibly directing CD4 T cell specific immune response against CNS antigens. Moreover, genome-wide association studies revealed several susceptibility genes outside the HLA regions, including predominantly genes involved in T and B lymphocyte activation pathways, e.g. genes for cytokine receptors *IL2RA* and *IL7R*. Polymorphisms in these genes are probably responsible for modifying of the threshold of immune system activation rather that the CNS specificity (Gourraud et al., 2012, Beecham et al., 2013). Besides the genetic risk factors, several environmental factors were shown to play a role in MS development, including infections, vaccinations, other diseases, traumatic events and physical and biochemical agents. Out of all factors, Epstein-Barr virus infection, infectious mononucleosis and smoking are those proven to be associated with MS development (Belbasis et al., 2015).

1.1.2 Immunopathology of MS

It is mostly believed that the primary event of MS induction is an autoimmune T cellmediated attack directed against antigens in CNS, especially myelin components, which initiates the neurodegenerative processes mentioned above. This hypothesis is called "outside-in" model of MS. However, there are also findings indicating that the neurodegeneration might be the initiation impulse for MS development. This "inside-out" MS model suggests that the neurodegenerative process generates a tissue damage that activates the primed immune system (Stys et al., 2012).

According to the "outside-in" model (Figure 1), there are myelin-specific T lymphocytes that accidentally escaped the negative selection in the thymus. In healthy individuals, these

cells are controlled by mechanisms of peripheral tolerance so that their activation is prevented. However, when these mechanisms fail, either because of non-functional regulatory T cells or due to the resistance of the autoreactive T cells to the action of the regulatory T cells, the autoreactive T cells are activated and differentiate into effector T cell subsets, most importantly cytotoxic CD8 T cells and CD4 helper T cells of Th1 or Th17 subtype. The activation can be mediated through molecular mimicry, newly formed autoantigens, bystander activation or antigens released from CNS. The activated effector T cells then activate other immune cell types, like B lymphocytes and monocytes, and infiltrate into CNS, crossing the blood-brain barrier, where they induce the chronic neuroinflammation (Dendrou et al., 2015).



Figure 1 Initiation of MS (from Dendrou et al., 2015)

A scheme presenting the initiation events of MS according to the "outside-in" model.

A wide range of immune cells from both, lymphoid and myeloid lineage were shown to infiltrate into the brain and spinal cord in the course of MS. Among the CD4 T helper cell subsets, Th1 and Th17 lymphocytes are the main populations implicated in the disease

pathology. The typical Th1 cell-produced cytokines, interferon y (IFNy) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF), were shown to influence the disease development significantly, however, their exact role remains controversial. CD4 T cells isolated from MS patients express higher levels of IFNy in comparison to healthy donors (Crawford et al., 2004). In accordance, a treatment of SPMS patients with an IFNy-blocking antibody ameliorates the disease progression (Skurkovich et al., 2001) and an administration of recombinant IFNy led to an exacerbation of the disease in RRMS patients (Panitch et al., 1987). Similarly, IFNy overexpression by oligodendrocytes prevented disease remission in EAE, the mouse model of MS (Renno et al., 1998). On the other hand, studies on mice lacking IFNy or its receptor showed that IFNy is dispensable for EAE development (Ferber et al., 1996, Willenborg et al., 1996). Moreover, treatment of EAE mice with antibodies blocking IFNy enhanced the disease progression (Billiau et al., 1988, Duong et al., 1992). Similarly, ambiguous results were reported about a role of TNF in MS. A blockage of TNF with a soluble receptor reduced disease severity in EAE (Korner et al., 1995, Korner et al., 1997a, Glabinski et al., 2004, Selmaj et al., 1995), indicating a possible use in MS treatment. However, a similar treatment of MS patients led to disease exacerbations (1999). Contradictory data were obtained when TNF knock-out mice were subjected to EAE since both, delayed onset (Sean Riminton et al., 1998, Korner et al., 1997b, Kassiotis et al., 1999) and disease exacerbation (Liu et al., 1998) were observed in these mice. This discrepancy might be caused by opposing actions of TNF receptors since TNF receptor 1 signaling seems to have a pro-inflammatory effect while TNF receptor 2 acts in an anti-inflammatory way (Eugster et al., 1999).

Furthermore, Th17 cells were implicated in the pathology of MS and EAE. In MS, numbers of Th17 cells in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) were shown to be increased in patients with the disease relapse in comparison to patients in remission (Brucklacher-Waldert et al., 2009). Moreover, interleukin-17 (IL-17), the product of Th17 cells, was suggested to disrupt the blood-brain barrier, thereby promoting the immune cell infiltration (Kebir et al., 2007). Additionally, Th17 cells were shown to infiltrate into CNS in the course of EAE, which appeared to be necessary for the disease development (Reboldi et al., 2009). Studies using

IL-17 and IL-17 receptor knock-out mice revealed the importance of this cytokine in EAE pathology (Gonzalez-Garcia et al., 2009, Komiyama et al., 2006). However, treatment of RRMS patients with an antibody against a subunit of interleukin-23 (IL-23), a Th17 differentiation factor, failed to ameliorate disease development (Segal et al., 2008).

In addition to CD4 T subsets, CD8 T cells were shown to contribute to the pathology of MS and EAE significantly. Clonally expanded CD8 T cells were found in brain lesions of MS patients and showed even lower heterogeneity that CD4 T cells (Babbe et al., 2000, Skulina et al., 2004). Moreover, clonally expanded CD8 T cells are also present in CSF and blood of MS patients and persist there for more than 5 years (Skulina et al., 2004). CD8 T cells are also well known to infiltrate CNS of mice subjected to EAE and are important for disease development (Camara et al., 2013, Luo et al., 2014). Moreover, the adoptive transfer of myelin-specific CD8 T cells induces EAE which is even more severe than EAE induced by the direct immunization with myelin antigen (Sun et al., 2001, Huseby et al., 2001).

In contrast to the T cell subsets discussed above, having mainly pro-inflammatory roles, regulatory T cells (Tregs) were suggested to protect against MS. Importantly, there is a decreased proportion of Tregs in blood of patients with RRMS when compared to healthy individuals (Venken et al., 2008), and the frequency of Tregs is increased in blood of patients being in the remission (Dalla Libera et al., 2011, Peelen et al., 2011). Moreover, an impaired function of Tregs in MS patients was reported (Fletcher et al., 2009, Viglietta et al., 2004, Haas et al., 2005). EAE studies confirmed the protective role of Tregs since they accumulate in CNS of mice in the recovery phase of EAE and their depletion inhibits the recovery (McGeachy et al., 2005, O'Connor et al., 2007).

Opposing roles in MS pathology were reported for B cells, another lymphocyte subset. On one hand, B cell deficiency, induced either by genetic manipulation or antibody-mediated depletion (anti-CD20 injection before EAE induction), led to an inhibition of disease recovery or to its overall exacerbation, respectively (Wolf et al., 1996, Matsushita et al., 2008), suggesting a regulatory role of B cells in EAE. As a mechanism, the production of interleukin-10 (IL-10) (Fillatreau et al., 2002) and interleukin-35 (IL-35) (Shen et al., 2014), and induction of Tregs (Weber et al., 2010) were suggested. On the other hand, B cells were shown to promote the disease development since B cell depletion induced by anti-CD20 injection after the disease onset was able to ameliorate EAE development (Matsushita et al., 2008, Weber et al., 2010). Studies by Matsushita and Weber suggest that B cells promote EAE when acting as the antigen-presenting cells. Moreover, B cell-derived interleukin-6 (IL-6) seems to contribute to the pathogenic role of B cells both, in EAE and MS (Barr et al., 2012). Indeed, B cell depletion appeared to be a promising therapy of MS since monoclonal antibodies against CD20 passed phase II and III of clinical trials for treatment of RRMS and PPMS, respectively (Hauser et al., 2008, Montalban et al., 2017).

Besides the above discussed lymphoid cells, myeloid cells were also implicated in the pathology of MS. Neutrophils, although present in relatively low numbers in MS lesions, seem to contribute to the disease development. Numbers of blood neutrophils are increased in MS patients and they exhibit a primed phenotype (Naegele et al., 2012, Ziaber et al., 1998, Guarnieri et al., 1985, Hertwig et al., 2016). Furthermore, neutrophils accumulate in CSF of MS patients and their numbers correlate with increased levels of IL-17A that is implicated in the neutrophil chemoattraction (Kostic et al., 2014). Another example of a neutrophilattracting chemokine increased in CSF of MS patients is interleukin-8 (IL-8) (Ishizu et al., 2005). Moreover, expression of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF), the neutrophil activating cytokine, is upregulated in MS lesions (Lock et al., 2002) and its administration to MS patients can worsen the disease (Openshaw et al., 2000). The important role of G-CSF was confirmed in EAE model. Mice deficient for G-CSF receptor showed reduced neutrophil infiltration into the spinal cord and an ameliorated disease progression (Rumble et al., 2015). Other EAE studies demonstrated that neutrophils might contribute especially to the initiation of the disease when stimulating maturation of antigen presenting cells (Steinbach et al., 2013) and facilitating the blood-brain barrier breakdown (Carlson et al., 2008, Christy et al., 2013).

Other myeloid populations playing a crucial role in MS pathology are macrophages and microglia, the macrophage-like glial cells. Although sharing many features, which also makes

it difficult to distinguish them in MS studies, macrophages and microglia are of a different origin. While CNS macrophages differentiate from bone marrow-derived monocytes, primitive yolk sac-derived macrophages populate CNS during the embryonic development and give rise to microglia (Ginhoux et al., 2010). Both of these cell types were shown to promote MS and EAE progression. Microglia are activated already before the disease onset and immune cell infiltration, proliferate and express molecules necessary for antigen presentation (Ponomarev et al., 2005). Later, monocytes infiltrate into CNS, differentiate to macrophages and promote disease progression (Ajami et al., 2011). Several studies revealed that inhibition of macrophages and microglia ameliorates EAE development (Bhasin et al., 2007, Wu et al., 2013, Ponomarev et al., 2011, Goldmann et al., 2013). However, microglia were also shown to clear the myelin debris, thereby attenuating the neuroinflammation (Yamasaki et al., 2014), and to produce neurotrophic factors like insulin-like growth factor 1, thereby promoting tissue repair (Wlodarczyk et al., 2015). These contradictory reports about the contribution of macrophage/microglia cells to MS could be explained by the existence of two distinct subtypes characterized by pro- (neurotoxic) and anti-inflammatory (neuroprotective) properties that are called M1 and M2 cells, respectively (Bogie et al., 2014). Indeed, there are studies revealing that M1 cells promote EAE development. On the other hand, M2 cells perform neuroprotective functions (Liu et al., 2013, Mikita et al., 2011, Moreno et al., 2014).

1.1.3 Neuroaxonal damage in MS

There are several ways how the CNS-infiltrated immune cells cause the neuroaxonal damage. First, T cells directly induce apoptosis in neuronal cells by expressing ligands of death receptors, e.g. Fas ligand (Giuliani et al., 2003) and tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) (Aktas et al., 2005), or by secretion of perforin (Nitsch et al., 2004). Further, activated macrophages and microglia produce reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) that cause mitochondrial dysfunction followed by energy deficiency in neuronal cells and these changes lead to the focal axonal degeneration

(Nikic et al., 2011, Fischer et al., 2012). Indeed, impaired mitochondrial function, shown as complex IV inactivation, was observed in the demyelinated axons within MS lesions (Mahad et al., 2009). Demyelination leads to upregulation and redistribution of ion channels, including transient receptor potential melastatin 4 (TRMP4), acid-sensing ion channel-1 (ASIC1), Nav1.2, Nav1.6 and Na+/Ca2+ exchanger, which in turn causes increased intracellular concentration of calcium and subsequent neuronal death (Craner et al., 2004, Friese et al., 2007, Schattling et al., 2012). Further, excessive glutamate levels were proposed to play a role in the neuroaxonal damage in MS when increased glutamate concentrations were observed in the acute MS lesions in comparison to the normally appearing white matter (Srinivasan et al., 2005). Indeed, EAE studies revealed that activated immune cells produce glutamate that exerts its excitotoxic effect on neurons and oligodendrocytes (Pitt et al., 2000). This effect is probably mediated by an increase of intracellular calcium levels to a toxic concentration (Nitsch et al., 2004). Furthermore, increased glutamate sensitivity of neurons can be induced by a proinflammatory cytokine IFNy that forms a calcium-permeable complex with a subunit of glutamate receptor AMPA (alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic) (Mizuno et al., 2008). Taken together, these pathological changes lead to neuroaxonal damage and subsequent neuronal deficits as discussed above.

1.2 Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis

EAE is an animal model of MS that helps us to investigate various aspects of MS pathology, including neuroinflammation and demyelination (Rangachari and Kuchroo, 2013). It was discovered accidentally as a side effect of rabies vaccination at the end of the 19th century. Louis Pasteur and his colleagues injected dogs with spinal cord homogenates isolated from rabbits infected with attenuated rabies virus. Apart from the protection against the active virus, however, they often observed neurological complications in the injected animals, including paralysis. Later, the true EAE, used as the animal model of MS, was

developed immunizing rodents, rabbits and monkeys with CNS antigens emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) (Behan and Chaudhuri, 2014).

EAE covers a wide range of models that differ in animal species, strain and the way of induction. In mice, EAE can be induced by active immunization or passively by an adoptive transfer of myelin-specific T cells.

1.2.1 Active EAE

Active EAE in mice is induced by subcutaneous immunization with myelin peptides, typically myelin basic protein (MBP), proteolipid protein (PLP) or myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG), emulsified in CFA, that activates myelin-specific T cells and finally leads to neuroinflammation and demyelination. Mice subjected to EAE exhibit ascending paralysis starting with tail limpness and progressing to paralysis of hind and front legs. The course of EAE differs according to the mouse strain and the encephalitogenic peptide used (Figure 2). When SJL/J mice are immunized with a peptide derived from PLP (PLP₁₃₉₋₁₅₁), the majority of them develops EAE with a relapsing-remitting course resembling the relapsing-remitting MS in humans (Figure 2A). A similar course of EAE is induced when C57BL/6J (B6) mice are immunized with a low dose of MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide. On the other hand, mice develop a monophasic form of EAE with a partial remission when immunization with a high dose of MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide is used on C57BL/6J background (Figure 2B). When non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice are immunized with the same MOG fragment, they firstly exhibit a relapsingremitting disease with mild severity followed by a secondary worsening that resembles the secondary progressive MS in humans (Figure 2C). Currently, the immunization of C57BL/6J mice with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide is the most frequently utilized EAE model since genetic modifications are introduced relatively easily in this mouse strain, thereby, enabling to study the role of various genes and cell populations in this disease (Rangachari and Kuchroo, 2013).



A scheme of the commonest models of active EAE, showing the mouse strain and myelin peptide used and the subsequent disease course.

1.2.2 Passive EAE

Besides the direct immunization with myelin peptides, EAE can be also induced passively, i.e. by the adoptive transfer of myelin-specific T cells. This alternative method modeling the effector phase of the disease enables to avoid possible side effects of CFA injection and better mimics the real pathology of MS that is believed to start spontaneously with T cell attack. Originally, the myelin peptide-immunized animals were used as a source of the T cells, which were transferred to recipients after *in vitro* restimulation with a specific antigen (Naparstek et al., 1983). However, this method produced a clonally heterogenic T cell population. Later, transgenic mouse strains with T cells bearing T-cell receptor (TCR) specific for myelin peptides were generated, thereby, enabling to transfer T cells with homogeneous TCR. Additionally, these transgenic mice develop EAE spontaneously with

various incidences, depending on genetic background and TCR specificity, that further increases the possibilities for studying MS pathology (Rangachari and Kuchroo, 2013, Ben-Nun et al., 2014).

1.3 Eosinophils

Eosinophils are a subtype of granulocytes, named according to their specific staining with an acidophilic dye eosin. They differentiate from hematopoietic progenitors in the bone marrow upon exposure to granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), interleukin-3 (IL-3) and mainly interleukin-5 (IL-5) and are released to the blood circulation as fully differentiated, mature cells. They are attracted to target tissues typically following IL-5 cytokine or chemokines of the eotaxin family. At steady state, they are predominantly present in the gastrointestinal tract and to a lesser extent in thymus, adipose tissue, lung, mammary glands and uterus where they contribute to the maintenance of tissue homeostasis. Regarding pathological conditions, eosinophils were described to play a crucial role as proinflammatory effector cells in allergic asthma, and other eosinophilic diseases including eosinophilic esophagitis, eosinophilic myopathy and hypereosinophilic syndrome. Furthermore, they significantly contribute to the immunity against infections, most importantly against helminths, but also against bacteria and viruses (Rosenberg et al., 2013).

1.3.1 Immunomodulatory functions of eosinophils

Besides the roles described above, eosinophils also modulate immune reactions affecting processes of both, innate and adaptive immunity, and usually promoting the Th2-polarized immune response (Long et al., 2016). In specific conditions, eosinophils can even work as antigen-presenting cells (Figure 3A). In a murine model of allergic lung inflammation, eosinophils were shown to upregulate the expression of MHCII and costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 upon antigen challenge. They migrate to the draining lymph nodes where they present a processed antigen to T cells and activate them while producing interleukin-4

(IL-4) which promotes Th2 polarization and M2 macrophage polarization (Shi et al., 2000, Wang et al., 2007a). Also in humans, eosinophils can express MHCII and costimulatory molecules upon activation and are able to present antigen to T cells *in vitro* (Weller et al., 1993, Lucey et al., 1989, Celestin et al., 2001). Eosinophils support the antigen presentation also indirectly by activating dendritic cells (Figure 3E). Namely, eosinophil-derived eosinophil peroxidase (EPX), one of the eosinophil granule proteins, activates dendritic cells and triggers their migration into a draining lymph node (Chu et al., 2014a). Furthermore, eosinophil-derived neurotoxin (EDN), another eosinophil granule protein, works as a dendritic cell chemoattractant and activates them through toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) engagement while enhancing Th2-polarized immune response (Yang et al., 2003, Yang et al., 2008). In contrary, eosinophils were proposed to inhibit antigen-specific responses by production of transforming growth factor β (TGF β) (Nakagome et al., 2007). Moreover, eosinophils increase levels of active TGF β by production of matrix metalloprotease 9 that converts latent TGF β to the active form (Chu et al., 2014b).

Another way how eosinophils promote Th2 polarization of the immune response is production of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) (Figure 3B). IDO is an enzyme generating kynurenines that induce cell death of IFNγ-producing Th1 cells but not Th2 cells (Odemuyiwa et al., 2004). Furthermore, eosinophils produce interleukin-25 (IL-25), thereby enhancing function of Th2 memory cells (Figure 3C) (Wang et al., 2007b). Finally, eosinophils were shown to suppress Th17 cells in small intestine by production of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (Sugawara et al., 2016).

Except of modulating T cell responses, eosinophils affect also other immune cells. In bone marrow and gut, eosinophils produce factors like a proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL) and interleukin-6 (IL-6), thus being crucial for plasma cell survival (Chu et al., 2011, Chu and Berek, 2012, Chu et al., 2014b). Moreover, eosinophils were shown to be important for immunoglobulin A (IgA) class switching and generation of CD103+ regulatory T cells (Tregs) and CD103+ dendritic cells in the gut (Chu et al., 2014b).

Finally, released eosinophil major basic protein (eMBP) induces superoxide generation in neutrophils (Haskell et al., 1995) and triggers histamine release from basophils and mast cells (Figure 3D) (Piliponsky et al., 2003, O'Donnell et al., 1983).



Figure 3 Immunomodulatory and effector functions of eosinophils (adopted from Long et al., 2016)

A scheme describing interactions of eosinophils with other immune cells and effector functions of eosinophils.

1.3.2 Eosinophil-derived granule proteins

As mentioned above, eosinophils also work as effector cells, predominantly using degranulation in order to perform their functions. In numerous granules, they store a variety of preformed cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, enzymes and lipid mediators, prepared for a rapid degranulation after receiving a signal. Moreover, secondary granules of eosinophils contain cationic eosinophil-specific proteins, namely eMBP, EDN, ECP and EPX that are cytotoxic to pathogens but also damage the host tissues (Figure 3D) (Rosenberg et al., 2013). Highly basic eMBP was shown to disrupt lipid bilayers which is proposed to be the

mechanism of cytotoxicity (Abu-Ghazaleh et al., 1992). Further, in the context of asthma, eMBP induces bronchoconstriction and airway hyperactivity (Gundel et al., 1991). EDN has less cationic character, however, possesses RNase activity, which is necessary for its antiviral function (Domachowske et al., 1998b). Due to the RNase activity, EDN also exerts neurotoxic effect which is manifested as the Gordon phenomenon when EDN is injected intrathecally (Sorrentino et al., 1992). It is of note that EDN is not present in mice (Acharya and Ackerman, 2014). ECP is another cationic granule protein from RNase family (Acharya and Ackerman, 2014); however, the dependence of its cytotoxicity on the RNase activity is controversial (Rosenberg, 1995, Domachowske et al., 1998a). ECP was also shown to elicit symptoms of the Gordon phenomenon when injected intraventricularly (Fredens et al., 1982). EPX is the most abundant eosinophil granule protein and possesses peroxidase activity (Acharya and Ackerman, 2014). Interestingly, reactive oxygen species generated by EPX are released mainly extracellularly, unlike ROS produced by neutrophils, promoting tissue damage (Lacy et al., 2003).

1.3.3 Mouse models of eosinophil deficiency

In order to study a role of eosinophils in various biological processes, several mouse models of eosinophils deficiency were developed, using either genetic modifications or injection of antibodies reducing eosinophil numbers.

As the first genetically manipulated eosinophil-deficient animal, ∆dblGATA1 mouse was generated. GATA-binding factor 1 (GATA1) is a transcription factor necessary for the development of erythroid, megakaryocytic and eosinophilic cells. However, in ∆dblGATA1 mice, only high-affinity GATA-binding site in GATA1 promoter is removed, enabling selective depletion of the eosinophil lineage (Yu et al., 2002). Later, another eosinophil-deficient mouse strain, called PHIL or EPO-DTA, was created. In PHIL mouse, diphtheria toxin A chain (DTA) is expressed under control of a promoter of the eosinophil-specific EPX which

leads to impaired protein synthesis in eosinophils and thereby to their depletion (Lee et al., 2004).

As an alternative approach to genetic manipulation, injections of various antibodies were shown to induce eosinophil deficiency, bringing a possibility to deplete eosinophils inducibly. Firstly, eosinophils can be depleted by an injection of an antibody against IL-5, which is the main eosinophil differentiation, prosurvival, migration and activation factor. Thus, its blocking significantly reduces eosinophil numbers *in vivo* (Garlisi et al., 1999). Further, it is possible to deplete eosinophils by administration of antibodies against Siglec-F which is specifically expressed on eosinophils and its cross-linking causes their apoptosis (Song et al., 2009). Finally, injection of antibodies against (C-C chemokine receptor type 3) CCR3 receptor can also lead to eosinophil depletion without affecting other cell populations (Grimaldi et al., 1999).

1.4 Eosinophils in MS and EAE

There is very limited knowledge about a role of eosinophils in MS and EAE. A microarray study of MS patients revealed an increased expression of ECP, the eosinophil granule protein, in the active but not inactive lesions in the brain, suggesting the presence of eosinophils (Lock et al., 2002). The brain infiltration of eosinophils was described in patients suffering from a rare rapidly progressive Marburg's variant of MS (Elenein et al., 2011, Suzuki et al., 2013). However, nothing is known about their function in the disease pathology.

In EAE, eosinophil infiltration into the spinal cord was firstly described by Gladue and colleagues. Moreover, they showed that blocking of the infiltration by administration of a leukotriene B4 antagonist ameliorated EAE development (Gladue et al., 1996). Later, the same group described eosinophil infiltration also into the optic nerve early in the course of EAE (Milici et al., 1998). Recently, Finlay and colleagues showed that eosinophilia, induced by administration of helminth products, partially protects from EAE development and this effect is dependent on IL-33 and IL-5. Furthermore, eosinophils infiltrated brains of EAE mice

when treated with the helminth products but not control EAE animals (Finlay et al., 2016). Finally, there is a study reporting that mice lacking IL-5, the eosinophil pro-survival factor, develop EAE with severity comparable to their wild-type (WT) controls (Weir et al., 2003).

Furthermore, there are reports suggesting neurotoxic effects of eosinophil products. As mentioned above, EDN and ECP eosinophil granule proteins were described to elicit symptoms of the Gordon phenomenon when injected into CNS (Fredens et al., 1982, Sorrentino et al., 1992). ECP was shown to have neurotoxic effect on cerebellar granule cells and astrocytes, inducing their apoptosis *in vitro*, and this mechanism was suggested to play a role in pathology of hypereosinophilic syndrome that affects also CNS besides other organs (Gleich and Leiferman, 2009, Navarro et al., 2010). Further, a role of eosinophil products was reported in a neuroinflammatory disease related to MS, neuromylelitis optica (NMO). In a mouse model of NMO, Zhang and colleagues showed that eosinophil degranulation causes demyelination in the spinal cord by mechanisms of antibody- and complement-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxity (Zhang and Verkman, 2013). Taken together, these data would rather implicate a negative role of eosinophils in MS and EAE.

1.5 Aim of the study

As described in the previous chapter, there are controversial data about a potential role of eosinophils in the pathology of MS and EAE. On one hand, there are reports suggesting an involvement of eosinophils in MS, since they are present in the brain in at least a subtype of MS. On the other hand, there are contradictory data showing both, positive and negative role in EAE development; and also a study suggesting no role of eosinophils in EAE. Thus, we attempted to solve this controversy here. For this purpose, we first induced EAE in WT mice and analyzed the course of eosinophil infiltration into the spinal cord. Subsequently, we assessed EAE development in two independent models of eosinophil deficiency with emphasis on the clinical development and neuroinflammation and demyelination in the spinal cord.

2 Material and Methods

2.1 Buffers and media

- MACS buffer for myelin removal PBS + 0.5 % BSA
- MACS buffer for Pan T cell kit PBS + 0.5 % BSA + 2 mM EDTA
- FACS buffer PBS + 0.5 % BSA + 0.1 % NaN₃
- Complete RPMI 1640 RPMI 1640 + 10 % FBS + 1% PenStrep

2.2 Mice

Wild-type C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Charles River (Sulzfeld, Germany). Δ dblGATA1 mice and littermate WT control on C57BL/6 background were also used. Δ dblGATA1 mice were kindly provided by Prof. Avery August (Cornell University College of Veterinary Medicine, NY, USA) who backcrossed them from the original Δ dblGATA1 mouse strain generated on BALB/C background (Yu et al., 2002). Mice were kept in the barrier facility of the Medizinisch-Theoretisches Zentrum, Dresden, Germany. Animal experiments were approved by the Landesdirektion Sachsen, Germany.

2.3 EAE induction and scoring

Active EAE was induced as previously described (Choi et al., 2015). Eight- to twelveweeks old female mice were shaved at the tail base and subcutaneously injected with 200 µg MOG₃₅₋₅₅ (myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein 35-55; peptides&elephants GmbH, Potsdam, Germany) emulsified in incomplete Freund's adjuvant (Sigma, St Louis, MO, USA) containing 500 µg inactivated *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* H37RA (Difco Laboratories, Detroit, MI, USA) and followed by intraperitoneal injection of 400 ng pertussis toxin (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany). The pertussis toxin injection was repeated two days later. Mice were monitored daily and clinical score was determined by a blinded observer as follows: 0 = no clinical sign; 1 = limp tail; 2 = mild hind limb weakness; 3 = complete unilateral hind limb paralysis or severe weakness of both hind limbs; 4 = complete bilateral hind limb paralysis; 5 = four limb paralysis; 6 = death. In the case of mouse death, score 6 was recorded for the day of death and excluded from the rest of the scoring experiment. When mice started to show EAE symptoms corresponding to score 2, dry food and Solid drink gels (Triple A Trading, Tiel, Netherlands), substituting access to drinking water, were placed inside the cage.

2.4 Isolation of leukocytes from spinal cord

The spine was excised from euthanized mice and the whole spinal cord was collected in PBS (after mouse anesthesia with ketamine-xylazine mixture and systemic perfusion through the left ventricle in order to prevent the contamination of the spinal cord infiltrate with circulating cells). A single-cell suspension was prepared using a 100µm cell strainer and myelin was removed using MACS technology in order to obtain leukocyte-enriched spinal cord fraction. The spinal cord suspension was incubated with Myelin Removal Beads II (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany), that are antibodies against myelin conjugated to magnetic beads, and passed through a column placed in the magnetic field. Thus, myelin containing cells and debris were captured in the column and the leukocyteenriched fraction was collected and used for FACS analysis or sorting.

2.5 Flow cytometry analysis and cell sorting

The leukocyte-enriched spinal cord fraction was isolated as described above, preincubated with anti-mouse CD16/32 (Fc block; BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany) and stained in FACS buffer for 45 min with the following antibodies: anti-CD45-PE (clone 30-F11), anti-CD11b-Alexa Fluor 488 (clone M1/70) and anti-Siglec-F-Alexa Fluor 647 (clone E50-2440) from BD Biosciences (Heidelberg, Germany); anti-CCR3-PE-Vio770 (clone REA 122), anti-CD4-APC (clone GK1.5), anti-CD8-PerCP (clone 53-6.7) from Miltenyi Biotec (Bergisch Gladbach, Germany); anti-CD63-APC/Cy7 (clone NVG-2), anti-Ly6G-PerCP/Cy5.5 (clone 1A8) from BioLegend (San Diego, CA, USA); anti-F4/80-PE/Cy7 (clone BM8) from eBioscience (Frankfurt, Germany). Viability staining was performed using Hoechst 33258 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

BD FACSCanto II and BD FACSAria III instruments from BD Biosciences (Heidelberg, Germany) were used for flow cytometry analysis and cell sorting, respectively. Flow cytometry data were analyzed with FlowJo software (FlowJo, LLC, Ashland, OR, USA).

2.5.1 Cell counting for flow cytometry analysis

In order to determine the cell number of different cell populations infiltrating the spinal cord, the total cellularity of the leukocyte-enriched spinal cord fraction was measured. For this purpose, a part of the cell suspension was separated before FACS staining and diluted in PBS containing Hoechst 33258. Cell number was measured using MACSQuant Analyzer 10 (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) and the total cell number of live (Hoechst 33258-negative) singlet cells was calculated according to the dilutions that have been made. The obtained total cell number was than multiplied by percentages of cell populations (out of live singlet cells), determined by flow cytometry, and the resulting cell number was normalized to 100 mg of spinal cord.

2.5.2 Intracellular staining for IFNy

In order to measure the activation of T cells in the recall response assay (chapter 2.8), production of IFNy was measured after intracellular staining with FACS. At the end of the recall response assay, Protein Transport Inhibitor Cocktail (eBioscience, Frankfurt, Germany) was added into the co-culture of dendritic and T cells for 3 hours in order to inhibit the

secretory pathway. Thus, IFNγ was captured inside the cells and was detectable with intracellular staining. Afterwards, cells were collected using PBS supplied with 2mM EDTA, centrifuged and stained for surface markers with anti-CD4-FITC and anti-CD8-PerCP antibodies (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). Then, cells were washed with PBS and stained with Zombie Aqua Fixable Viability Kit (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA) for 15 min in room temperature in order to distinguish dead cells during FACS analysis. Cells were washed with PBS supplied with 3%FBS and permeabilized using FOXP3 Staining Buffer Set (eBioscience, Frankfurt, Germany) for at least 40 minutes. Then, they were washed with Permeabilization buffer from the above mentioned buffer set and stained with anti-IFNγ-APC antibody (eBioscience, Frankfurt, Germany) for 30 minutes. Afterwards, cells were washed with Permeabilization buffer and analyzed by flow cytometry.

2.6 Molecular biology methods

In order to determine the mRNA expression of specific genes in the spinal cord tissue or sorted cells, RNA was isolated and transcribed to cDNA. Expression levels were measured in the real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) which allows for simultaneous amplification and quantification of cDNA in the gene-specific manner.

2.6.1 RNA isolation

From the spinal cord tissue, RNA was isolated using a modified Chomczynski and Sacchi protocol (Chomczynski and Sacchi, 1987). Briefly, a piece of tissue was homogenized in 500 µl of TRI Reagent (MRC, Cincinnati, OH, USA) using Precellys 24 homogenizer (Bertin Instruments, Montigny-le-Bretonneux, France) and centrifuged at 13000 g, 10 min, 4 °C to remove a fat layer. Afterwards, the homogenate was transferred into a clean tube and 100 µl of chloroform (Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) was added. Samples were mixed, incubated for 3 min in room temperature and centrifuged at 13000 rpm, 10 min, 4 °C. The

liquid separated into three phases: the lower one containing proteins and lipids, the middle one containing DNA and the upper one containing RNA. The upper phase was collected into a new tube and mixed with 200 µl of isopropanol (VWR Chemicals, East Grinstead, UK). After 10 min incubation at room temperature, samples were centrifuged at 13000 rpm, for 10 min, 4 °C so that a pellet of precipitated RNA was formed. The pellet was washed with 70% ethanol and dried shortly. Afterwards, it was resuspended in water and incubated at 55 °C for 10 min to facilitate the RNA dissolution. The concentration of the isolated RNA was measured with the Synergy HT microplate spectrophotometer (BioTek, Bad Friedrichshall, Germany).

From sorted cells, RNA was isolated using RNeasy Plus Micro Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Manufacturer's instructions were followed.

2.6.2 Reverse transcription

1 μg of RNA and all RNA isolated from the spinal cord tissue and sorted cells, respectively, was transcribed to cDNA using iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) and Mastercycler gradient cycler (Eppendorf, Wesseling-Berzdorf, Germany). The following protocol was used:

- 5 min at 25°C
- 30 min at 42°C
- 5 min at 85°C

2.6.3 Real-time quantitative PCR

RT-qPCR was performed using SsoFast EvaGreen Supermix (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA), containing DNA polymerase, dNTPs and a fluorescent nucleic acid dye. Besides the SsoFast EvaGreen Supermix, the reaction mixture included cDNA diluted in water and gene-specific primers at a final concentration 400 nM. The primers used are listed

in the following table.

RPS29 fwd	GAGCCGACTCGTTCCTTTCT
RPS29 rev	TTCAAGGTCGCTTAGTCCAACTTA
18S fwd	GTTCCGACCATAAACGATGCC
18S rev	TGGTGGTGCCCTTCCGTCAAT
eMBP fwd	GGAGCGTCTGCTCTTCATCT
eMBP rev	CCCCTGGAGGACACTCTTCT
EPX fwd	CTGCTTAGCTGTAGTGGGGG
EPX rev	ACGTTGCATGATGCTTTTCTGT
ECP fwd	AAGCAGACAGGGAAACATGGGT
ECP rev	TGTTCTCCTCCGACTGGTGAT
Eotaxin-1 fwd	TGCTCACGGTCACTTCCTTC
Eotaxin-1 rev	CTTGAAGACTATGGCTTTCAGGGTG
Eotaxin-2 fwd	AGGGGTCATCTTCATCACCAAG
Eotaxin-2 rev	AAGCAGCCTGGTAAAGCGT
IFNγ fwd	CTGGAGGAACTGGCAAAAGG
IFNy rev	CTGGACCTGTGGGTTGTTGA
IL-17A fwd	CGCAAAAGTGAGCTCCAGA
IL-17A rev	TGAGCTTCCCAGATCACAG
IL-6 fwd	CCTTCCTACCCCAATTTCCAAT
IL-6 rev	AACGCACTAGGTTTGCCGAGTA
TNF fwd	AACCACCAAGTGGAGGAGCA
TNF rev	GGGTGAGGAGCACGTAGTCG
iNOS fwd	ACCTTGTTCAGCTACGCCTT
iNOS rev	CATTCCCAAATGTGCTTGTC
IL-1β fwd	ATCCCAAGCAATACCCAAAG
IL-1β rev	GTGCTGATGTACCAGTTGGG

The qPCR reaction was carried out in a CFX384 Real-Time cycler (BioRad). First, DNA polymerase is heat-activated. Afterwards, temperature in the cycler is changed so that cycles of DNA denaturation, primer annealing and DNA extension are repeated. The product amplification is quantified in the real time as the nucleic acid dye binds to the newly formed double-stranded DNA and becomes fluorescent. The following protocol was used:

- 1. 95 °C ... 30 s
- 2. 95 °C ... 5 s
- 3. 60 °C ... 5 s

Go to step 2. 45-times

4. 70 to 95 °C increase (melting curve)

The relative gene expression was calculated by the $\Delta\Delta$ CT method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001) and normalized to the expression of RPS29 and 18S housekeeping genes in the spinal cord and sorted cell samples, respectively.

2.7 Eotaxin-1 ELISA

After systemic perfusion of mice, spinal cords were collected in PBS supplied with 1x protease inhibitor cocktail cOmplete Mini (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany). Samples were homogenized with a T10 basic Ultra-Turrax homogenizer (IKA, Staufen, Germany), centrifuged at 17000 g, for 30 min, at 4°C, and supernatants were collected for analysis. The concentration of eotaxin-1 protein was measured with Mouse CCL11/Eotaxin Quantikine ELISA Kit (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA). Concentration of eotaxin-1 was normalized to the total protein amount determined by bicinchoninic acid assay (BCA) method (Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

2.8 Recall response assay

In order to test the recall response of T cells from eosinophil-deficient and –sufficient mice, Δ dblGATA1 and WT mice were immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide emulsified in CFA as described in the chapter about EAE induction (chapter 2.3). At day 7 after the immunization, T cells from these mice were isolated and restimulated with MOG₃₅₋₅₅-pulsed dendritic cells differentiated from the bone marrow of untreated WT mice. Activation of T cells was measured 24 hours later as IFNγ production using intracellular staining and flow cytometry analysis (chapter 2.5.2).

2.8.1 Differentiation of dendritic cells from bone marrow

WT mice were sacrificed and femurs and tibias were collected. Bone marrow was flushed out from the bones with PBS, passed through a 40 µm strainer and centrifuged at 400 g, for 5 min, at 4 °C. Cells were seeded in complete RPMI 1640 medium supplied with 20 ng/ml of GM-CSF (Prepro Tech, Hamburg, Germany) in suspension culture dishes. Medium was changed 3 days later. On day 7, floating cells, representing mainly dendritic cells, were harvested and used for the recall response assay.

2.8.2 T cell isolation

ΔdblGATA1 and WT mice were sacrificed 7 days after the immunization with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide. Draining lymph nodes were collected in MACS buffer and a single cell suspension was prepared using a 40 µm strainer. Cells were centrifuged at 400 g, for 5 min, at 4 °C and T cells were isolated with Pan T Cell Isolation Kit II, mouse (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). This kit utilizes the MACS technology. At first, cell suspension is stained with a cocktail of biotin-conjugated antibodies against markers of several cell populations except of T cells. Then, anti-biotin antibodies conjugated to magnetic beads are co-incubated. Finally, the stained cell suspension is applied to a column placed in magnetic field where non-T cell types are captured and the flow-through, containing only T cells, is collected. T cells isolated in this way were centrifuged at 400 g, for 5 min, at 4 °C, resuspended in complete RPMI 1640 medium and used for the recall response assay.

2.8.3 Recall response assay

Dendritic cells (20000/ well) were seeded in complete RPMI 1640 medium and incubated for 30 minutes. Afterwards they were loaded with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide at a final

concentration of 10 μ g/ml for 4 hours. T cells were added (180000 cells/ well), co-cultured overnight and subsequently stained intracellularly for IFN γ (chapter 2.5.2).

2.9 Luxol Fast Blue staining

In order to analyze demyelination in the spinal cord of mice subjected to EAE, we used Luxol Fast Blue (LFB) MBSN stain (Sigma, St Louis, MO, USA) that binds to myelin.

After systemic perfusion, a part of the spinal cord was dissected and incubated in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 1 hour at 4 °C. After washings, the tissue was transferred into 30% sucrose (Sigma, St Louis, MO, USA) and let to sink overnight. It was embedded in OCT Tissue Tek (Sakura, Staufen, Germany), frozen in -80 °C and cut to 12µm sections using CryoStar NX50 cryostat (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

Sections were dried for 30 minutes in room temperature and OCT was washed away with PBS. Then, sections were fixed in methanol for 5 minutes, defatted in 1:1 ethanol/chloroform mixture for 4 hours and hydrated in 95% ethanol for 5 minutes. Sections were incubated in luxol fast blue solution, composed of 0.1% luxol fast blue and 0.5% glacial acetic acid dissolved in 95% ethanol, at 58 °C overnight. The excess of the stain was then rinsed with 95% ethanol and distilled water for 1 minute each. The staining was differentiated in 0.05% lithium carbonate for 15 seconds followed by 70% ethanol for another 15 seconds. Slides were washed in distilled water and observed under a microscope. The differentiation steps were repeated until the white and grey matters were sharply defined. Then, sections were washed with 95% ethanol (1 minute), 100% ethanol (2x5 minutes) and xylene (2x5 minutes). Slides were mounted in VectaMount Permanent Mounting Medium (Vector Laboratories, Peterborough, UK).

Imaging was performed with an inverted microscope Apotome (Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany) where mosaic pictures were collected. 4-6 sections from each mouse were analyzed using Fiji software. The amount of myelin was measured as integrated density after
automatic thresholding divided by area of section. Values were normalized to WT that was set as 100 %.

2.10 Statistical analysis

For all experiments, Mann Whitney test was used to assess the statistical significance of results. P values ≤ 0.05 were considered statistically significant (* P ≤ 0.05 , ** P ≤ 0.01 , *** P ≤ 0.001). Data are presented as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM). GraphPad Prism 6 software was used to calculate the statistics.

3 Results

3.1 Eosinophils infiltrate into the spinal cord in the course of EAE

In order to study neuroinflammatory processes, that are hallmark of MS pathology, EAE mouse model is widely used. To study a possible role of eosinophils in this disease, we chose the active EAE that is induced in C57BL/6 mice by immunization with a high dose of the peptide derived from MOG protein (MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide) (Choi et al., 2015). This immunization protocol induces a monophasic course of the disease with the pre-onset phase around day 7, the onset phase around day 10, and the peak phase around day 17 after the immunization followed by a partial remission of symptoms.

EAE was induced in WT mice and the infiltration of eosinophils into the spinal cord was assessed by FACS. In order to identify eosinophils, Siglec-F was used as a well-established eosinophil marker (Voehringer et al., 2007, Griseri et al., 2015). Furthermore, CD45, CD11b and high side scatter (SSC) were used to better recognize eosinophils by FACS (Griseri et al., 2015). Thus, eosinophils were determined as CD45+, SSC high, CD11b+ and Siglec-F+ cells. The gating strategy is show in Figure 4A. The eosinophil infiltration into the spinal cord was analyzed in the pre-onset (D7), onset (D10) and peak (D17) phase of EAE, and nonimmunized (healthy) mice were used as a control. There was a significant increase of eosinophil numbers in all three EAE time points compared to healthy mice (Figure 4B). The eosinophil infiltration was accompanied by an expected increase of total cell numbers which was also significant in all three phases of EAE (Figure 4C). Furthermore, the eosinophil infiltration was confirmed by RT-qPCR analysis of the expression of eosinophil granule proteins, namely eMBP and ECP, which are commonly used as eosinophil-specific markers (Rosenberg et al., 2013). The expression of ECP and eMBP in the spinal cord was significantly upregulated in the peak phase of EAE (Figure 4D, E). Moreover, mRNA levels of ECP were increased already in the onset phase of EAE (Figure 4D). Taken together, these

data indicate that eosinophils infiltrate into the spinal cord during EAE. Thus, we were interested to understand the mechanism of eosinophil chemoattraction into the spinal cord.



Figure 4 Eosinophils infiltrate into the spinal cord in the course of EAE

Wild-type female mice were immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ in CFA in order to induce EAE and leukocyte infiltrates in the spinal cord were analyzed at different time points. Non-immunized mice were used as controls. (A) Using FACS analysis, eosinophils infiltrated into the spinal cord were identified as CD45+ SSChigh CD11b+ Siglec-F+ cells out of live cells, determined as Hoechst-negative cells, and singlets. Representative graphs of the gating strategy are shown. Numbers of (B) eosinophils and (C) total cells infiltrated in the spinal cord of healthy or EAE mice 7, 10 and 17 days after immunization (n = 6-8/group). Relative mRNA expression of (D) eMBP and (E) ECP in the spinal cord of healthy or EAE mice 7, 10 and 17 days after immunization (n = 6-7/group). The expression was normalized to RPS29 housekeeping gene and the average expression in controls was set as 1. The P values

refer to comparison of control and EAE mice at different time points. ** P≤0.01, *** P≤0.001. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. eMBP (major basic protein), ECP (eosinophil cationic protein)

3.1.1 Eotaxin-1 is a possible chemokine attracting eosinophils to the spinal cord in the course of EAE

Eotaxins are typical eosinophil chemoattractants, driving CCR3 positive eosinophils to target tissues under homeostatic or inflamed conditions. In context of inflammation, eotaxin-1 and -2 are necessary for the eosinophil infiltration to lung of mice subjected to a murine model of asthma (Pope et al., 2005). To identify a possible mechanism of eosinophil recruitment in our model we analysed eotaxins in the spinal cord during EAE. As eotaxin-3 is a pseudogene in mice (Pease and Williams, 2013), we analyzed mRNA levels of eotaxin-1 and -2 in the spinal cord of EAE and control mice. Expression of eotaxin-1, but not eotaxin-2, was significantly increased in the onset and peak phase of the disease (Figure 5A, B). There was a trend for eotaxin-2 to be increased at the onset of EAE (Figure 5B). In order to confirm the eotaxin-1 upregulation at the protein level, we used ELISA to measure eotaxin-1 in homogenates of spinal cords isolated from EAE and control mice. Since mRNA expression of eotaxin-1 was predominantly upregulated in the onset phase of EAE (D10) we chose this time point to analyze its protein levels. Concentration of eotaxin-1 was significantly increased at this time point, as compared to the spinal cords from control mice (Figure 5C). These data suggest that eotaxin-1 is a possible chemoattractant for spinal cord-infiltrating eosinophils in the course of EAE. However, this mechanism requires further confirmation, for instance by using an eotaxin-1 blocking agent or eotaxin-1 receptor knock-out mice.



Figure 5 Eotaxin-1 concentration increases in the spinal cord of EAE mice

Wild-type mice were immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ in CFA in order to induce EAE and eotaxin levels in the spinal cord were analyzed at different time points. Non-immunized mice were used as controls. Relative mRNA expression of (A) eotaxin-1 and (B) eotaxin-2 in the spinal cord of healthy or EAE mice 7, 10 and 17 days after immunization (n = 6-7/group). The expression was normalized to RPS29 housekeeping gene. (C) Protein levels of eotaxin-1 in spinal cord homogenates from healthy or EAE mice were analyzed by ELISA 10 days after immunization. Eotaxin-1 concentration was normalized to the total protein amount (n = 4-5/group). The P values refer to comparison of control and EAE mice at different time points. * P<0.05, ** P<0.01. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

3.2 Spinal cord eosinophils are activated and degranulate during EAE

Since eosinophils accumulate in the spinal cord of EAE mice (Figure 4), we proceeded to the analysis of their activation status. For this purpose, we chose CD11b integrin of which increased surface expression has been reported as a marker of eosinophil activation in a mouse model of colitis (Griseri et al., 2015). Interestingly, its expression by spinal cord eosinophils, measured by FACS, was significantly increased in the onset and peak phase of EAE when compared to spinal cord eosinophils from healthy mice (Figure 6A). The activation of the spinal cord eosinophils was further tested by FACS analysis of CCR3 receptor expression. Decrease of CCR3 expression on eosinophils has been shown as a marker of activation in a mouse model of lung infection (Voehringer et al., 2007). Indeed, surface expression of CCR3 on spinal cord eosinophils gradually decreased in the course of EAE.

(Figure 6B). Since there is the downregulation of CCR3 expression on eosinophils during EAE and we have noticed two distinct populations of eosinophils in the spinal cord of EAE mice differing in the expression of CCR3 (Figure 4A), we questioned whether there is a difference in the expression of eosinophil granule toxins between these two populations which might help us to better understand the activation status of eosinophils in EAE. For this purpose, CCR3-possitive and –negative eosinophils were sorted from the spinal cord of EAE mice in the peak phase of the disease and the expression of the eosinophil granule proteins eMBP, ECP and EPX was analyzed by RT-qPCR. Interestingly, expression of all three proteins was significantly higher in CCR3-negative eosinophils (Figure 6C-E). These results indicate that during the activation of eosinophils (characterized by CCR3 downregulation) they upregulate expression of their granule toxins, which might contribute to the pathology of EAE.





Wild-type mice were immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ in CFA in order to induce EAE and leukocyte infiltrates in the spinal cord were analyzed at different time points. Non-immunized mice were used as controls. The expression of (A) CD11b and (B) CCR3 on eosinophils determined as CD45+ SSChigh CD11b+ Siglec-F+ cells by FACS in

healthy or EAE mice 7, 10 and 17 days after immunization. The expression is presented as MFI and normalized to healthy controls (n =4-6/group). CCR3+ and CCR3- eosinophils from the spinal cord of EAE mice at the peak of the disease were sorted by FACS. Relative mRNA expression of (C) eMBP, (D) ECP and (E) EPX was analyzed by qPCR and normalized to 18S expression (n =7-10/group). * P \leq 0.05, ** P \leq 0.01, *** P \leq 0.001. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. MFI (median of fluorescence intensity), eMBP (major basic protein), EPX (eosinophil peroxidase), ECP (eosinophil cationic protein), ND (not detected)

As we found that eosinophils are activated in EAE and that the expression of their granule proteins is upregulated, we were further interested to study whether eosinophils degranulate in the spinal cord of EAE mice. Therefore, we analyzed eosinophil degranulation using FACS by measuring their side scatter parameter which describes the granularity of cells. Thus, SSC decrease corresponds to the loss of granules and, thereby, is a measure of degranulation. Indeed, SSC of spinal cord eosinophils was significantly decreased during all stages of EAE when compared with healthy mice (Figure 7A). In order to confirm the degranulation, we used another marker, tetraspanin CD63. Increased surface expression of CD63 is a marker of degranulation of gut eosinophils in a mouse colitis model (Griseri et al., 2015). In agreement with the decreased SSC, the percentage of CD63-positive eosinophils was significantly increased in the spinal cord of EAE mice in the peak of the disease (Figure 7B). Therefore, our data showed that eosinophils likely degranulate in the spinal cord of EAE mice.



Figure 7 Spinal cord-infiltrating eosinophils degranulate in EAE

Wild-type mice were immunized with MOG_{35-55} in CFA in order to induce EAE and leukocyte infiltrates in the spinal cord were analyzed at different time points. Non-immunized mice were used as controls. (A) SSC median of spinal cord eosinophils from control or EAE mice 7, 10 and 17 days after immunization. Data were normalized to the healthy controls (n =4-6/group). (D) Percentage of spinal cord eosinophils expressing CD63 in control and EAE mice 17 days after immunization determined by FACS (n =4-6/group). ** P≤0.01. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. SSC (side scatter)

3.3 Eosinophils are dispensable for EAE development

Since we demonstrated that eosinophils infiltrate into the spinal cord during EAE (Figure 4) and they are activated and degranulate therein (Figure 6, Figure 7), suggesting a potential role in EAE pathology, we were interested whether they are necessary for disease development. For this purpose, we used two independent models of eosinophil deficiency: AdbIGATA1 mice (Yu et al., 2002) and anti-IL-5 antibody-mediated eosinophil depletion (Garlisi et al., 1999). At first, AdbIGATA1 mice and their littermate controls were subjected to EAE using the immunization protocol described above for WT mice, and the clinical development was assessed (for more details regarding the clinical scoring see chapter 2.3). Interestingly, we did not observe any significant changes in EAE severity when comparing AdbIGATA1 mice with their eosinophil-sufficient controls as shown in an EAE development graph (Figure 8A) and as area under the curve (AUC) (Figure 8B). Second, wild-type mice were injected intraperitoneally with an antibody against IL-5 or its isotype control at day 5 and 8 after the EAE induction in order to deplete eosinophils in the effector phase of EAE when the eosinophil infiltration into the spinal cord was the most prominent (Figure 4). Confirming the result from ∆dblGATA1 mice, there was no difference in EAE severity between eosinophil-depleted and isotype-injected mice as shown again in both, the EAE development graph (Figure 8C) and AUC representation (Figure 8D). Taken together, EAE clinical scoring experiments showed that eosinophils are dispensable for EAE development in two independent models of eosinophil deficiency.





Female ∆dblGATA1 mice and their littermate controls were immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ in CFA in order to induce EAE and the clinical development was scored by a blinded observer (n=9-11/group). (A) Mean clinical score was plotted in the time course and statistical analysis was performed for every day separately. (B) Area under the curve was calculated from the data in (A). Female WT mice were immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ in CFA in order to induce EAE and intraperitoneally injected with anti-IL-5 antibody or isotype control (10 µg/mouse) at day 5 and 8 after the immunization (n=10/group). The clinical development of EAE was scored by a blinded observer. (C) Mean clinical score was plotted in a time course and statistical analysis was performed for every day separately. (D) Area under the curve was calculated from the data in (C). Data are presented as mean ± SEM. AUC (area under the curve)

3.3.1 No difference in inflammation in the spinal cord of ∆dblGATA1 mice

In order to further assess a potential functional contribution of eosinophils in EAE pathology, we analyzed the infiltration of several inflammatory cell populations into the spinal

cord of eosinophil-deficient and –sufficient mice at the peak of EAE (day 17). For this purpose, ∆dblGATA1 mice were chosen since they are the more specific model of eosinophil deficiency. The spinal cord infiltrating cells were analyzed using FACS. Leukocyte-enriched fraction of the spinal cord homogenate was prepared and two separated FACS stainings for myeloid and lymphoid cells were performed. Eosinophils were identified as CD45+ SSChigh CD11b+ Siglec-F+ Ly6Glow F4/80int cells (Figure 9A), neutrophils as CD45+ CD11b+ F4/80-Ly6G+ cells (Figure 9B), macrophages as CD45+ CD11b+ Ly6G- F4/80+ CD45high cells (Figure 9B), CD4 T cells as CD45+ CD8- CD4+ cells (Figure 9C) and CD8 T cells as CD45+ CD4- CD8+ cells (Figure 9C).



Figure 9 Gating strategy for inflammatory cell FACS analysis

Representative FACS plots show gating strategy for the identification of (A) eosinophils, (B) neutrophils, macrophages and (C) CD4 and CD8 T cells infiltrating the spinal cord of WT control mice subjected to EAE.

We did not observe any significant difference in the numbers of total CD45+ cells (Figure 10A), CD4 T cells (Figure 10B), CD8 T cells (Figure 10C), neutrophils (Figure 10D) and macrophages (Figure 10E) infiltrating the spinal cord of Δ dblGATA1 and WT control mice at the peak of the disease. As expected, there were nearly no eosinophils detected in Δ dblGATA1 mice in contrast to their WT controls (Figure 10F). In accordance with the scoring experiments presented above, these mice had a comparable clinical score (Figure 10G).



Figure 10 No difference in inflammatory cell infiltration in AdbIGATA1 mice

Female Δ dblGATA1 mice and their littermate controls were immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ in CFA in order to induce EAE. Numbers of spinal cord-infiltrated (A) CD45+, (B) CD4 T and (C) CD8 T cells, (D) neutrophils, (E) macrophages and (F) eosinophils were analyzed by FACS at day 17 after EAE induction. (G) Clinical score of the analyzed mice at day 17 after EAE induction (n=6-7/group). ** P≤0.01. Data are presented as mean ± SEM.

In order to further analyze the inflammatory status of the spinal cord in Δ dblGATA1 and WT mice, expression analysis of inflammatory molecules (IFN γ , IL-17A, IL-6, TNF, iNOS, IL-1 β) in the spinal cord was performed in the peak phase of EAE. We did not observe any significant difference in any of the assessed molecules (Figure 11), showing that also the cytokine milieu is not changed in Δ dblGATA1 mice. In order to verify eosinophil deficiency, expression of eMBP, one of the eosinophil markers, was also analyzed by RT-qPCR. Indeed,

mRNA levels of eMBP were significantly downregulated in Δ dblGATA1 mice as compared to their littermate controls (Figure 11).

Taken together, these data show that there is no difference in the inflammatory status of the spinal cord when comparing eosinophil-deficient and –sufficient mice subjected to EAE which is in agreement with their identical clinical scores during EAE development (Figure 8).





Female Δ dblGATA1 mice and their littermate controls were immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ in CFA in order to induce EAE. mRNA levels of IFNy, IL-17A, IL-6, TNF, iNOS, IL-1 β and eMBP in the spinal cord were analyzed using RT-qPCR at day 17 after EAE induction (n=6-7/group). The expression was normalized to RPS29 housekeeping gene. *** P≤0.001. Data are presented as mean ± SEM.

3.3.2 No difference in demyelination in the spinal cord of ∆dblGATA1 mice

Not only neuroinflammation but also demyelination is an important hallmark of EAE pathology and these two aspects are interconnected (Dendrou et al., 2015). Thus, we tested the degree of demyelination in the spinal cord of ∆dblGATA1 and WT mice at the peak of EAE using LFB staining of myelin. In accordance with no change in neuroinflammation and clinical development, we also did not observe any difference in demyelination (Figure 12) further suggesting that eosinophil deficiency does not affect EAE development.



Figure 12 Demyelination in \(\Delta\)dblGATA1 mice

Female Δ dblGATA1 mice and their littermate controls were immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ in CFA in order to induce EAE. At day 17 after immunization, 12µm spinal cord cryosections were stained with LFB for myelin levels measurement (n=3-5/group). (A) quantification, (B) representative pictures. Scale bar 500 µm. Data are presented as mean ± SEM.

3.3.3 No difference in recall response in \dblGATA1 mice

In order to complete the analysis of a possible impact of eosinophils on EAE development, the initiation phase of EAE was investigated in Δ dblGATA1 mice. These mice and their littermate controls were immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide in order to induce EAE. They were sacrificed 7 days later and a recall response of T cells isolated from draining lymph nodes to the MOG₃₅₋₅₅ antigen was analyzed. The isolated T cells were co-cultured with MOG₃₅₋₅₅-pulsed dendritic cells differentiated from bone marrow cells isolated from untreated WT mice. In order to measure the activation of T cells, IFN γ production was assessed by intracellular staining followed by FACS analysis. No difference in the activation of CD4 and CD8 T cells was found since the percentage of IFN γ -producing CD4 and CD8 T cells, respectively, was not changed in Δ dblGATA1 mice (Figure 13A, B).These data show that eosinophil deficiency does not affect the initiation phase of EAE.



Figure 13 No difference in recall response in Δ dblGATA1 mice

Female Δ dblGATA1 mice and their littermate controls were immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ in CFA. At day 7, T cells isolated from draining lymph nodes were co-cultured with MOG₃₅₋₅₅-pulsed dendritic cells for 24 hours. Surface expression of CD4 and CD8 and intracellular expression of IFN γ were analyzed by FACS (n=6/group). Data are presented as mean ± SEM.

4 Discussion

MS is an autoimmune neuroinflammatory demyelinating disease, afflicting 2.5 million people worldwide, causing a variety of neurological problems often leading to a permanent use of wheel chair. Moreover, the typical onset of the disease is around 30 years of age, thus, the quality of life in the productive age is seriously affected. Unfortunately, the pathology and especially the cause of MS are not well characterized and therefore the successfulness of the treatment is limited. Although, the cause of the disease is controversial, it is mostly believed that the launching event is a dysregulation of immune system, which is followed by infiltration of immune cells into CNS and subsequent neuroinflammation (Dendrou et al., 2015). Many immune cell types were described to be involved in the immunopathology of MS, playing either positive or negative roles. However, there is only very limited information about a possible role of eosinophils in this disease. Thus, we were encouraged to investigate it in order to reveal new mechanisms of MS pathology and, maybe, to contribute to development of a more efficient MS treatment.

In order to study a role of eosinophils in MS, we employed its mouse model EAE that mimics both, the neuroiflammatory and demyelinating aspects of the disease. At first, we assessed whether there is eosinophil infiltration into CNS of EAE-subjected mice. For this purpose, EAE was induced in WT mice and the eosinophil numbers in the spinal cord were analyzed in the course of the disease and compared to healthy controls. In the present study, we showed that eosinophils infiltrate into the spinal cord during EAE and, moreover, that they are activated and degranulate there. Additionally, concentration of eotaxin-1, the eosinophil chemoattractant, was increased in EAE mice, suggesting eotaxin-1-mediated mechanism of eosinophil infiltration. Further, we induced EAE in two independent mouse models of eosinophil deficiency, Δ dblGATA1 and IL-5-depleted mice, and observed the clinical symptoms. Interestingly, we found that eosinophils are dispensable for EAE development in

both models. We chose Δ dblGATA1 mice, as the more specific model, and analyzed these mice in detail with regards to different aspects of EAE pathology. In accordance with the comparable clinical course, we did not observe any difference in the infiltration of various immune cell populations into the spinal cord, or in the proinflammatory molecule expression and demyelination. Furthermore, T cells isolated from Δ dblGATA1 mice behaved similarly in the recall response assay, indicating that the immunization phase was not affected by the eosinophil deficiency that is also in accordance with the results of the scoring experiments.

Recently, Finlay and colleagues reported that eosinophilia induced by an injection of helminth products has a protective effect against EAE development (Finlay et al., 2016). In contrast, we show herein that eosinophil deficiency does not influence EAE development. A possible explanation for this discrepant result is that, in their study, eosinophils acquire a regulatory phenotype due to the helminth products injection, thereby ameliorating EAE. Indeed, in vitro differentiated eosinophils from bone marrow without any additional treatment were not able to reduce EAE severity when transferred into EAE mice. In contrast, when they transferred eosinophils from mice treated with interleukin-33 (IL-33), a mediator of the helminth product-induced eosinophilia, development of EAE in recipient mice was impaired (Finlay et al., 2016). In accordance with the hypothesis that eosinophils with different phenotypes might play different roles in the immunity, Mesnil and colleagues showed that lung resident eosinophils have a different character than eosinophils infiltrating the lung after allergic stimulus. They propose that resident eosinophils, but not the infiltrated ones, possess a regulatory phenotype, as shown by transcriptome analysis, and are able to reduce immune response by inhibiting dendritic cell maturation (Mesnil et al., 2016). Thus, it might be that only eosinophils that have been polarized to a specific phenotype (e.g. after a parasitic infection) are capable to affect EAE development.

Another study assessing a role of eosinophils in EAE was performed by Gladue and colleagues. They were the first who reported eosinophil infiltration into the spinal cord of EAE mice. Further, they proposed that a treatment of EAE mice with a leukotriene B4 antagonist reduces the eosinophil infiltration and EAE severity. Moreover, they claimed that the

52

lymphocyte infiltration remains unaffected by this treatment and, therefore, that the effect is eosinophil specific (Gladue et al., 1996). However, leukotriene B4 is known to have a broad range of proinflammatory effects, including recruitment of immune cells and their activation (Le Bel et al., 2014). Therefore, it is likely that other cell types besides eosinophils were affected by the leukotriene B4 antagonist. Moreover, Gladue et al. induced EAE by the adoptive transfer of encephalogenic T cells into SJL mice (Gladue et al., 1996), which is a model different from ours. Thus, different experimental conditions may also account for different findings between this previous study and ours.

Weir et al. showed that IL-5 deficiency does not affect EAE development, using IL-5 knock-out mice (Weir et al., 2003), which is in agreement with our results, especially with the experiment using IL-5 blockade to deplete eosinophils.

Zhang and colleagues reported that eosinophil degranulation causes demyelination in the spinal cord in a mouse model of NMO (Zhang and Verkman, 2013). However, although we see that eosinophils infiltrate into the spinal cord and likely degranulate therein during EAE, we did not observe any difference in demyelination between eosinophil-deficient and – sufficient mice. A possible explanation for this disagreement is that the mechanisms of antibody- and complement-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxity, described in NMO, do not occur in EAE. Another possible explanation is that the contribution of eosinophil degranulation to the overall demyelination is minor and, thus, the impact is not observable in eosinophil-deficient mice.

There are several reports that eosinophils can support initiation of an antigen-specific immune response, namely antigen presentation, either directly, when acting as antigen presenting cells, or indirectly by promoting dendritic cell maturation and migration. In contrast, there is a study proposing that eosinophils inhibit antigen-induced immune responses by TGF β -mediated suppression of CD4 T cells (see chapter 1.3.1). In the present thesis, we show that eosinophil deficiency did not affect antigen-specific T cell activation, since we did not observe any difference in antigen-specific *in vitro* restimulation of T cells isolated from MOG-immunized Δ dblGATA1 and control mice. In accordance with our results,

53

Weir and colleagues also did not see any abnormalities in recall response of T cells isolated from MOG-immunized IL-5-deficient mice (Weir et al., 2003). The discrepancy in reports describing the role eosinophils in the initiation of antigen-specific immune response might result from use of different mouse strains and immunization models. While we and Weir et al. use mice in a C57BL/6 background immunized with MOG in order to induce EAE, the majority of the other studies used mice with BALB/c background subjected to a model of allergic inflammation.

Furthermore, we show a significant upregulation of eotaxin-1, the eosinophil chemoattractant, at the peak of EAE but most substantially at the onset of the disease. Additionally, expression of eotaxin-2, another eosinophil chemoattractant, was increased at the onset of EAE although not significantly. In a mouse model of asthma, it was shown that expression of eotaxin-1 and -2 is necessary for eosinophil recruitment into lung which is mediated by CCR3 receptor expressed on eosinophils (Pope et al., 2005). Thus, we propose that the eotaxin-1/2-CCR3 axis is responsible for eosinophil recruitment also into the spinal cord. In the future, this hypothesis will be tested using CCR-3 knock-out mice subjected to EAE.

In conclusion, we present herein that eosinophils infiltrate into the spinal cord in the course of EAE and they are activated and degranulate there. We suggest that the infiltration is mediated by eotaxins and their receptor CCR3. Finally, we show that eosinophils are dispensable for EAE development in our experimental setting. However, as described in literature, eosinophils can play a protective role against EAE development when they acquire a regulatory phenotype. This is a phenomenon that should be further studied in the context of MS pathogenesis.

54

5 Literature

- 1999. TNF neutralization in MS: results of a randomized, placebo-controlled multicenter study. The Lenercept Multiple Sclerosis Study Group and The University of British Columbia MS/MRI Analysis Group. *Neurology*, 53, 457-65.
- ABU-GHAZALEH, R. I., GLEICH, G. J. & PRENDERGAST, F. G. 1992. Interaction of eosinophil granule major basic protein with synthetic lipid bilayers: a mechanism for toxicity. *J Membr Biol*, 128, 153-64.
- ACHARYA, K. R. & ACKERMAN, S. J. 2014. Eosinophil granule proteins: form and function. *J Biol Chem*, 289, 17406-15.
- AJAMI, B., BENNETT, J. L., KRIEGER, C., MCNAGNY, K. M. & ROSSI, F. M. 2011. Infiltrating monocytes trigger EAE progression, but do not contribute to the resident microglia pool. *Nat Neurosci*, 14, 1142-9.
- AKTAS, O., SMORODCHENKO, A., BROCKE, S., INFANTE-DUARTE, C., SCHULZE TOPPHOFF, U., VOGT, J., PROZOROVSKI, T., MEIER, S., OSMANOVA, V., POHL, E., BECHMANN, I., NITSCH, R. & ZIPP, F. 2005. Neuronal damage in autoimmune neuroinflammation mediated by the death ligand TRAIL. *Neuron*, 46, 421-32.
- BABBE, H., ROERS, A., WAISMAN, A., LASSMANN, H., GOEBELS, N., HOHLFELD, R., FRIESE, M., SCHRODER, R., DECKERT, M., SCHMIDT, S., RAVID, R. & RAJEWSKY, K. 2000. Clonal expansions of CD8(+) T cells dominate the T cell infiltrate in active multiple sclerosis lesions as shown by micromanipulation and single cell polymerase chain reaction. *J Exp Med*, 192, 393-404.
- BARR, T. A., SHEN, P., BROWN, S., LAMPROPOULOU, V., ROCH, T., LAWRIE, S., FAN,
 B., O'CONNOR, R. A., ANDERTON, S. M., BAR-OR, A., FILLATREAU, S. & GRAY,
 D. 2012. B cell depletion therapy ameliorates autoimmune disease through ablation of IL-6-producing B cells. *J Exp Med*, 209, 1001-10.
- BEECHAM, A. H., PATSOPOULOS, N. A., XIFARA, D. K., DAVIS, M. F., KEMPPINEN, A., COTSAPAS, C., SHAH, T. S., SPENCER, C., BOOTH, D., GORIS, A., OTURAI, A., SAARELA, J., FONTAINE, B., HEMMER, B., MARTIN, C., ZIPP, F., D'ALFONSO, S., MARTINELLI-BONESCHI, F., TAYLOR, B., HARBO, H. F., KOCKUM, I., HILLERT, J., OLSSON, T., BAN, M., OKSENBERG, J. R., HINTZEN, R., BARCELLOS, L. F.,

AGLIARDI, C., ALFREDSSON, L., ALIZADEH, M., ANDERSON, C., ANDREWS, R., SONDERGAARD, H. B., BAKER, A., BAND, G., BARANZINI, S. E., BARIZZONE, N., BARRETT, J., BELLENGUEZ, C., BERGAMASCHI, L., BERNARDINELLI, L., BERTHELE, A., BIBERACHER, V., BINDER, T. M., BLACKBURN, H., BOMFIM, I. L., BRAMBILLA, P., BROADLEY, S., BROCHET, B., BRUNDIN, L., BUCK, D., BUTZKUEVEN, H., CAILLIER, S. J., CAMU, W., CARPENTIER, W., CAVALLA, P., CELIUS, E. G., COMAN, I., COMI, G., CORRADO, L., COSEMANS, L., COURNU-REBEIX, I., CREE, B. A., CUSI, D., DAMOTTE, V., DEFER, G., DELGADO, S. R., DELOUKAS, P., DI SAPIO, A., DILTHEY, A. T., DONNELLY, P., DUBOIS, B., DUDDY, M., EDKINS, S., ELOVAARA, I., ESPOSITO, F., EVANGELOU, N., FIDDES, B., FIELD, J., FRANKE, A., FREEMAN, C., FROHLICH, I. Y., GALIMBERTI, D., GIEGER, C., GOURRAUD, P. A., GRAETZ, C., GRAHAM, A., GRUMMEL, V., GUASCHINO, C., HADJIXENOFONTOS, A., HAKONARSON, H., HALFPENNY, C., HALL, G., HALL, P., HAMSTEN, A., HARLEY, J., HARROWER, T., HAWKINS, C., HELLENTHAL, G., HILLIER, C., et al. 2013. Analysis of immune-related loci identifies 48 new susceptibility variants for multiple sclerosis. Nat Genet, 45, 1353-60.

- BEHAN, P. O. & CHAUDHURI, A. 2014. EAE is not a useful model for demyelinating disease. *Mult Scler Relat Disord,* 3, 565-74.
- BELBASIS, L., BELLOU, V., EVANGELOU, E., IOANNIDIS, J. P. & TZOULAKI, I. 2015. Environmental risk factors and multiple sclerosis: an umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Lancet Neurol*, 14, 263-73.
- BEN-NUN, A., KAUSHANSKY, N., KAWAKAMI, N., KRISHNAMOORTHY, G., BERER, K., LIBLAU, R., HOHLFELD, R. & WEKERLE, H. 2014. From classic to spontaneous and humanized models of multiple sclerosis: impact on understanding pathogenesis and drug development. *J Autoimmun*, 54, 33-50.
- BHASIN, M., WU, M. & TSIRKA, S. E. 2007. Modulation of microglial/macrophage activation by macrophage inhibitory factor (TKP) or tuftsin (TKPR) attenuates the disease course of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *BMC Immunol*, 8, 10.
- BILLIAU, A., HEREMANS, H., VANDEKERCKHOVE, F., DIJKMANS, R., SOBIS, H., MEULEPAS, E. & CARTON, H. 1988. Enhancement of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in mice by antibodies against IFN-gamma. *J Immunol*, 140, 1506-10.
- BOGIE, J. F., STINISSEN, P. & HENDRIKS, J. J. 2014. Macrophage subsets and microglia in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neuropathol,* 128, 191-213.

- BRUCKLACHER-WALDERT, V., STUERNER, K., KOLSTER, M., WOLTHAUSEN, J. & TOLOSA, E. 2009. Phenotypical and functional characterization of T helper 17 cells in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 132, 3329-41.
- CAMARA, M., BEYERSDORF, N., FISCHER, H. J., HEROLD, M. J., IP, C. W., VAN DEN BRANDT, J., TOYKA, K. V., TAUROG, J. D., HUNIG, T., HERRMANN, T., REICHARDT, H. M., WEISHAUPT, A. & KERKAU, T. 2013. CD8(+) T cell help is required for efficient induction of EAE in Lewis rats. *J Neuroimmunol*, 260, 17-27.
- CARLSON, T., KROENKE, M., RAO, P., LANE, T. E. & SEGAL, B. 2008. The Th17-ELR+ CXC chemokine pathway is essential for the development of central nervous system autoimmune disease. *J Exp Med*, 205, 811-23.
- CELESTIN, J., ROTSCHKE, O., FALK, K., RAMESH, N., JABARA, H., STROMINGER, J. & GEHA, R. S. 2001. IL-3 induces B7.2 (CD86) expression and costimulatory activity in human eosinophils. *J Immunol*, 167, 6097-104.
- CHOI, E. Y., LIM, J. H., NEUWIRTH, A., ECONOMOPOULOU, M., CHATZIGEORGIOU, A., CHUNG, K. J., BITTNER, S., LEE, S. H., LANGER, H., SAMUS, M., KIM, H., CHO, G. S., ZIEMSSEN, T., BDEIR, K., CHAVAKIS, E., KOH, J. Y., BOON, L., HOSUR, K., BORNSTEIN, S. R., MEUTH, S. G., HAJISHENGALLIS, G. & CHAVAKIS, T. 2015. Developmental endothelial locus-1 is a homeostatic factor in the central nervous system limiting neuroinflammation and demyelination. *Mol Psychiatry*, 20, 880-8.
- CHOMCZYNSKI, P. & SACCHI, N. 1987. Single-step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidinium thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction. *Anal Biochem*, 162, 156-9.
- CHRISTY, A. L., WALKER, M. E., HESSNER, M. J. & BROWN, M. A. 2013. Mast cell activation and neutrophil recruitment promotes early and robust inflammation in the meninges in EAE. *J Autoimmun*, 42, 50-61.
- CHU, D. K., JIMENEZ-SAIZ, R., VERSCHOOR, C. P., WALKER, T. D., GONCHAROVA, S., LLOP-GUEVARA, A., SHEN, P., GORDON, M. E., BARRA, N. G., BASSETT, J. D., KONG, J., FATTOUH, R., MCCOY, K. D., BOWDISH, D. M., ERJEFALT, J. S., PABST, O., HUMBLES, A. A., KOLBECK, R., WASERMAN, S. & JORDANA, M. 2014a. Indigenous enteric eosinophils control DCs to initiate a primary Th2 immune response in vivo. *J Exp Med*, 211, 1657-72.
- CHU, V. T., BELLER, A., RAUSCH, S., STRANDMARK, J., ZANKER, M., ARBACH, O., KRUGLOV, A. & BEREK, C. 2014b. Eosinophils promote generation and maintenance of immunoglobulin-A-expressing plasma cells and contribute to gut immune homeostasis. *Immunity*, 40, 582-93.

- CHU, V. T. & BEREK, C. 2012. Immunization induces activation of bone marrow eosinophils required for plasma cell survival. *Eur J Immunol,* 42, 130-7.
- CHU, V. T., FROHLICH, A., STEINHAUSER, G., SCHEEL, T., ROCH, T., FILLATREAU, S., LEE, J. J., LOHNING, M. & BEREK, C. 2011. Eosinophils are required for the maintenance of plasma cells in the bone marrow. *Nat Immunol*, 12, 151-9.
- CRANER, M. J., NEWCOMBE, J., BLACK, J. A., HARTLE, C., CUZNER, M. L. & WAXMAN,
 S. G. 2004. Molecular changes in neurons in multiple sclerosis: altered axonal expression of Nav1.2 and Nav1.6 sodium channels and Na+/Ca2+ exchanger. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101, 8168-73.
- CRAWFORD, M. P., YAN, S. X., ORTEGA, S. B., MEHTA, R. S., HEWITT, R. E., PRICE, D.
 A., STASTNY, P., DOUEK, D. C., KOUP, R. A., RACKE, M. K. & KARANDIKAR, N. J.
 2004. High prevalence of autoreactive, neuroantigen-specific CD8+ T cells in multiple sclerosis revealed by novel flow cytometric assay. *Blood*, 103, 4222-31.
- DALLA LIBERA, D., DI MITRI, D., BERGAMI, A., CENTONZE, D., GASPERINI, C., GRASSO, M. G., GALGANI, S., MARTINELLI, V., COMI, G., AVOLIO, C., MARTINO, G., BORSELLINO, G., SALLUSTO, F., BATTISTINI, L. & FURLAN, R. 2011. T regulatory cells are markers of disease activity in multiple sclerosis patients. *PLoS One*, 6, 24.
- DENDROU, C. A., FUGGER, L. & FRIESE, M. A. 2015. Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 15, 545-58.
- DOMACHOWSKE, J. B., DYER, K. D., ADAMS, A. G., LETO, T. L. & ROSENBERG, H. F. 1998a. Eosinophil cationic protein/RNase 3 is another RNase A-family ribonuclease with direct antiviral activity. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 26, 3358-63.
- DOMACHOWSKE, J. B., DYER, K. D., BONVILLE, C. A. & ROSENBERG, H. F. 1998b. Recombinant human eosinophil-derived neurotoxin/RNase 2 functions as an effective antiviral agent against respiratory syncytial virus. *J Infect Dis*, 177, 1458-64.
- DUONG, T. T., ST LOUIS, J., GILBERT, J. J., FINKELMAN, F. D. & STREJAN, G. H. 1992. Effect of anti-interferon-gamma and anti-interleukin-2 monoclonal antibody treatment on the development of actively and passively induced experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in the SJL/J mouse. *J Neuroimmunol,* 36, 105-15.
- ELENEIN, R. G., SHARER, L. R., COOK, S. D., PACHNER, A. R., MICHAELS, J. & HILLEN,M. E. 2011. A second case of Marburg's variant of multiple sclerosis with vasculitis and extensive demyelination. *Mult Scler*, 17, 1531-8.

- EUGSTER, H. P., FREI, K., BACHMANN, R., BLUETHMANN, H., LASSMANN, H. & FONTANA, A. 1999. Severity of symptoms and demyelination in MOG-induced EAE depends on TNFR1. *Eur J Immunol,* 29, 626-32.
- FERBER, I. A., BROCKE, S., TAYLOR-EDWARDS, C., RIDGWAY, W., DINISCO, C., STEINMAN, L., DALTON, D. & FATHMAN, C. G. 1996. Mice with a disrupted IFNgamma gene are susceptible to the induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). *J Immunol*, 156, 5-7.
- FILLATREAU, S., SWEENIE, C. H., MCGEACHY, M. J., GRAY, D. & ANDERTON, S. M. 2002. B cells regulate autoimmunity by provision of IL-10. *Nat Immunol*, *3*, 944-50.
- FINLAY, C. M., STEFANSKA, A. M., WALSH, K. P., KELLY, P. J., BOON, L., LAVELLE, E. C., WALSH, P. T. & MILLS, K. H. 2016. Helminth Products Protect against Autoimmunity via Innate Type 2 Cytokines IL-5 and IL-33, Which Promote Eosinophilia. *J Immunol*, 196, 703-14.
- FISCHER, M. T., SHARMA, R., LIM, J. L., HAIDER, L., FRISCHER, J. M., DREXHAGE, J., MAHAD, D., BRADL, M., VAN HORSSEN, J. & LASSMANN, H. 2012. NADPH oxidase expression in active multiple sclerosis lesions in relation to oxidative tissue damage and mitochondrial injury. *Brain*, 135, 886-99.
- FLETCHER, J. M., LONERGAN, R., COSTELLOE, L., KINSELLA, K., MORAN, B., O'FARRELLY, C., TUBRIDY, N. & MILLS, K. H. 2009. CD39+Foxp3+ regulatory T Cells suppress pathogenic Th17 cells and are impaired in multiple sclerosis. J Immunol, 183, 7602-10.
- FREDENS, K., DAHL, R. & VENGE, P. 1982. The Gordon phenomenon induced by the eosinophil cationic protein and eosinophil protein X. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 70, 361-6.
- FRIESE, M. A., CRANER, M. J., ETZENSPERGER, R., VERGO, S., WEMMIE, J. A., WELSH, M. J., VINCENT, A. & FUGGER, L. 2007. Acid-sensing ion channel-1 contributes to axonal degeneration in autoimmune inflammation of the central nervous system. *Nat Med*, 13, 1483-9.
- GARLISI, C. G., KUNG, T. T., WANG, P., MINNICOZZI, M., UMLAND, S. P., CHAPMAN, R.
 W., STELTS, D., CRAWLEY, Y., FALCONE, A., MYERS, J. G., JONES, H., BILLAH,
 M. M., KREUTNER, W. & EGAN, R. W. 1999. Effects of chronic anti-interleukin-5 monoclonal antibody treatment in a murine model of pulmonary inflammation. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 20, 248-55.
- GINHOUX, F., GRETER, M., LEBOEUF, M., NANDI, S., SEE, P., GOKHAN, S., MEHLER, M. F., CONWAY, S. J., NG, L. G., STANLEY, E. R., SAMOKHVALOV, I. M. &

MERAD, M. 2010. Fate mapping analysis reveals that adult microglia derive from primitive macrophages. *Science*, 330, 841-5.

- GIULIANI, F., GOODYER, C. G., ANTEL, J. P. & YONG, V. W. 2003. Vulnerability of human neurons to T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *J Immunol*, 171, 368-79.
- GLABINSKI, A. R., BIELECKI, B., KAWCZAK, J. A., TUOHY, V. K., SELMAJ, K. & RANSOHOFF, R. M. 2004. Treatment with soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor (sTNFR):Fc/p80 fusion protein ameliorates relapsing-remitting experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and decreases chemokine expression. *Autoimmunity*, 37, 465-71.
- GLADUE, R. P., CARROLL, L. A., MILICI, A. J., SCAMPOLI, D. N., STUKENBROK, H. A., PETTIPHER, E. R., SALTER, E. D., CONTILLO, L. & SHOWELL, H. J. 1996.
 Inhibition of leukotriene B4-receptor interaction suppresses eosinophil infiltration and disease pathology in a murine model of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *J Exp Med*, 183, 1893-8.
- GLEICH, G. J. & LEIFERMAN, K. M. 2009. The hypereosinophilic syndromes: current concepts and treatments. *Br J Haematol*, 145, 271-85.
- GOLDMANN, T., WIEGHOFER, P., MULLER, P. F., WOLF, Y., VAROL, D., YONA, S., BRENDECKE, S. M., KIERDORF, K., STASZEWSKI, O., DATTA, M., LUEDDE, T., HEIKENWALDER, M., JUNG, S. & PRINZ, M. 2013. A new type of microglia gene targeting shows TAK1 to be pivotal in CNS autoimmune inflammation. *Nat Neurosci,* 16, 1618-26.
- GONZALEZ-GARCIA, I., ZHAO, Y., JU, S., GU, Q., LIU, L., KOLLS, J. K. & LU, B. 2009. IL-17 signaling-independent central nervous system autoimmunity is negatively regulated by TGF-beta. *J Immunol*, 182, 2665-71.
- GOURRAUD, P. A., HARBO, H. F., HAUSER, S. L. & BARANZINI, S. E. 2012. The genetics of multiple sclerosis: an up-to-date review. *Immunol Rev,* 248, 87-103.
- GRIMALDI, J. C., YU, N. X., GRUNIG, G., SEYMOUR, B. W., COTTREZ, F., ROBINSON, D.
 S., HOSKEN, N., FERLIN, W. G., WU, X., SOTO, H., O'GARRA, A., HOWARD, M. C.
 & COFFMAN, R. L. 1999. Depletion of eosinophils in mice through the use of antibodies specific for C-C chemokine receptor 3 (CCR3). *J Leukoc Biol,* 65, 846-53.
- GRISERI, T., ARNOLD, I. C., PEARSON, C., KRAUSGRUBER, T., SCHIERING, C.,
 FRANCHINI, F., SCHULTHESS, J., MCKENZIE, B. S., CROCKER, P. R. & POWRIE,
 F. 2015. Granulocyte Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor-Activated Eosinophils
 Promote Interleukin-23 Driven Chronic Colitis. *Immunity*, 43, 187-99.

- GUARNIERI, B., LOLLI, F. & AMADUCCI, L. 1985. Polymorphonuclear neutral protease activity in multiple sclerosis and other diseases. *Ann Neurol*, 18, 620-2.
- GUNDEL, R. H., LETTS, L. G. & GLEICH, G. J. 1991. Human eosinophil major basic protein induces airway constriction and airway hyperresponsiveness in primates. *J Clin Invest*, 87, 1470-3.
- HAAS, J., HUG, A., VIEHOVER, A., FRITZSCHING, B., FALK, C. S., FILSER, A., VETTER, T., MILKOVA, L., KORPORAL, M., FRITZ, B., STORCH-HAGENLOCHER, B., KRAMMER, P. H., SURI-PAYER, E. & WILDEMANN, B. 2005. Reduced suppressive effect of CD4+CD25high regulatory T cells on the T cell immune response against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Immunol,* 35, 3343-52.
- HASKELL, M. D., MOY, J. N., GLEICH, G. J. & THOMAS, L. L. 1995. Analysis of signaling events associated with activation of neutrophil superoxide anion production by eosinophil granule major basic protein. *Blood*, 86, 4627-37.
- HAUSER, S. L., WAUBANT, E., ARNOLD, D. L., VOLLMER, T., ANTEL, J., FOX, R. J.,
 BAR-OR, A., PANZARA, M., SARKAR, N., AGARWAL, S., LANGER-GOULD, A. &
 SMITH, C. H. 2008. B-cell depletion with rituximab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med*, 358, 676-88.
- HERTWIG, L., PACHE, F., ROMERO-SUAREZ, S., STURNER, K. H., BORISOW, N., BEHRENS, J., BELLMANN-STROBL, J., SEEGER, B., ASSELBORN, N., RUPRECHT, K., MILLWARD, J. M., INFANTE-DUARTE, C. & PAUL, F. 2016. Distinct functionality of neutrophils in multiple sclerosis and neuromyelitis optica. *Mult Scler*, 22, 160-73.
- HUSEBY, E. S., LIGGITT, D., BRABB, T., SCHNABEL, B., OHLEN, C. & GOVERMAN, J. 2001. A pathogenic role for myelin-specific CD8(+) T cells in a model for multiple sclerosis. *J Exp Med*, 194, 669-76.
- ISHIZU, T., OSOEGAWA, M., MEI, F. J., KIKUCHI, H., TANAKA, M., TAKAKURA, Y., MINOHARA, M., MURAI, H., MIHARA, F., TANIWAKI, T. & KIRA, J. 2005. Intrathecal activation of the IL-17/IL-8 axis in opticospinal multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 128, 988-1002.
- KASSIOTIS, G., PASPARAKIS, M., KOLLIAS, G. & PROBERT, L. 1999. TNF accelerates the onset but does not alter the incidence and severity of myelin basic proteininduced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Eur J Immunol*, 29, 774-80.
- KEBIR, H., KREYMBORG, K., IFERGAN, I., DODELET-DEVILLERS, A., CAYROL, R., BERNARD, M., GIULIANI, F., ARBOUR, N., BECHER, B. & PRAT, A. 2007. Human

TH17 lymphocytes promote blood-brain barrier disruption and central nervous system inflammation. *Nat Med*, 13, 1173-5.

- KOMIYAMA, Y., NAKAE, S., MATSUKI, T., NAMBU, A., ISHIGAME, H., KAKUTA, S., SUDO,
 K. & IWAKURA, Y. 2006. IL-17 plays an important role in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol*, 177, 566-73.
- KORNER, H., GOODSALL, A. L., LEMCKERT, F. A., SCALLON, B. J., GHRAYEB, J., FORD, A. L. & SEDGWICK, J. D. 1995. Unimpaired autoreactive T-cell traffic within the central nervous system during tumor necrosis factor receptor-mediated inhibition of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 92, 11066-70.
- KORNER, H., LEMCKERT, F. A., CHAUDHRI, G., ETTELDORF, S. & SEDGWICK, J. D. 1997a. Tumor necrosis factor blockade in actively induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis prevents clinical disease despite activated T cell infiltration to the central nervous system. *Eur J Immunol,* 27, 1973-81.
- KORNER, H., RIMINTON, D. S., STRICKLAND, D. H., LEMCKERT, F. A., POLLARD, J. D.
 & SEDGWICK, J. D. 1997b. Critical points of tumor necrosis factor action in central nervous system autoimmune inflammation defined by gene targeting. *J Exp Med*, 186, 1585-90.
- KOSTIC, M., DZOPALIC, T., ZIVANOVIC, S., ZIVKOVIC, N., CVETANOVIC, A., STOJANOVIC, I., VOJINOVIC, S., MARJANOVIC, G., SAVIC, V. & COLIC, M. 2014.
 IL-17 and glutamate excitotoxicity in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *Scand J Immunol*, 79, 181-6.
- LACY, P., ABDEL-LATIF, D., STEWARD, M., MUSAT-MARCU, S., MAN, S. F. & MOQBEL,
 R. 2003. Divergence of mechanisms regulating respiratory burst in blood and sputum eosinophils and neutrophils from atopic subjects. *J Immunol,* 170, 2670-9.
- LE BEL, M., BRUNET, A. & GOSSELIN, J. 2014. Leukotriene B4, an endogenous stimulator of the innate immune response against pathogens. *J Innate Immun,* 6, 159-68.
- LEE, J. J., DIMINA, D., MACIAS, M. P., OCHKUR, S. I., MCGARRY, M. P., O'NEILL, K. R., PROTHEROE, C., PERO, R., NGUYEN, T., CORMIER, S. A., LENKIEWICZ, E., COLBERT, D., RINALDI, L., ACKERMAN, S. J., IRVIN, C. G. & LEE, N. A. 2004. Defining a link with asthma in mice congenitally deficient in eosinophils. *Science*, 305, 1773-6.
- LIU, C., LI, Y., YU, J., FENG, L., HOU, S., LIU, Y., GUO, M., XIE, Y., MENG, J., ZHANG, H., XIAO, B. & MA, C. 2013. Targeting the shift from M1 to M2 macrophages in

experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis mice treated with fasudil. *PLoS One,* 8, 13.

- LIU, J., MARINO, M. W., WONG, G., GRAIL, D., DUNN, A., BETTADAPURA, J., SLAVIN, A. J., OLD, L. & BERNARD, C. C. 1998. TNF is a potent anti-inflammatory cytokine in autoimmune-mediated demyelination. *Nat Med*, *4*, 78-83.
- LIVAK, K. J. & SCHMITTGEN, T. D. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods*, 25, 402-8.
- LOCK, C., HERMANS, G., PEDOTTI, R., BRENDOLAN, A., SCHADT, E., GARREN, H., LANGER-GOULD, A., STROBER, S., CANNELLA, B., ALLARD, J., KLONOWSKI, P., AUSTIN, A., LAD, N., KAMINSKI, N., GALLI, S. J., OKSENBERG, J. R., RAINE, C. S., HELLER, R. & STEINMAN, L. 2002. Gene-microarray analysis of multiple sclerosis lesions yields new targets validated in autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Nat Med*, 8, 500-8.
- LONG, H., LIAO, W., WANG, L. & LU, Q. 2016. A Player and Coordinator: The Versatile Roles of Eosinophils in the Immune System. *Transfus Med Hemother*, 43, 96-108.
- LUBLIN, F. D., REINGOLD, S. C., COHEN, J. A., CUTTER, G. R., SORENSEN, P. S., THOMPSON, A. J., WOLINSKY, J. S., BALCER, L. J., BANWELL, B., BARKHOF, F., BEBO, B., JR., CALABRESI, P. A., CLANET, M., COMI, G., FOX, R. J., FREEDMAN, M. S., GOODMAN, A. D., INGLESE, M., KAPPOS, L., KIESEIER, B. C., LINCOLN, J. A., LUBETZKI, C., MILLER, A. E., MONTALBAN, X., O'CONNOR, P. W., PETKAU, J., POZZILLI, C., RUDICK, R. A., SORMANI, M. P., STUVE, O., WAUBANT, E. & POLMAN, C. H. 2014. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions. *Neurology*, 83, 278-86.
- LUCEY, D. R., NICHOLSON-WELLER, A. & WELLER, P. F. 1989. Mature human eosinophils have the capacity to express HLA-DR. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 86, 1348-51.
- LUO, Q., SUN, Y., GONG, F. Y., LIU, W., ZHENG, W., SHEN, Y., HUA, Z. C. & XU, Q. 2014.
 Blocking initial infiltration of pioneer CD8(+) T-cells into the CNS via inhibition of SHP-2 ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. *Br J Pharmacol,* 171, 1706-21.
- MAHAD, D. J., ZIABREVA, I., CAMPBELL, G., LAX, N., WHITE, K., HANSON, P. S., LASSMANN, H. & TURNBULL, D. M. 2009. Mitochondrial changes within axons in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 132, 1161-74.

- MATSUSHITA, T., YANABA, K., BOUAZIZ, J. D., FUJIMOTO, M. & TEDDER, T. F. 2008. Regulatory B cells inhibit EAE initiation in mice while other B cells promote disease progression. *J Clin Invest*, 118, 3420-30.
- MCGEACHY, M. J., STEPHENS, L. A. & ANDERTON, S. M. 2005. Natural recovery and protection from autoimmune encephalomyelitis: contribution of CD4+CD25+ regulatory cells within the central nervous system. *J Immunol,* 175, 3025-32.
- MESNIL, C., RAULIER, S., PAULISSEN, G., XIAO, X., BIRRELL, M. A., PIROTTIN, D., JANSS, T., STARKL, P., RAMERY, E., HENKET, M., SCHLEICH, F. N., RADERMECKER, M., THIELEMANS, K., GILLET, L., THIRY, M., BELVISI, M. G., LOUIS, R., DESMET, C., MARICHAL, T. & BUREAU, F. 2016. Lung-resident eosinophils represent a distinct regulatory eosinophil subset. *J Clin Invest*, 126, 3279-95.
- MIKITA, J., DUBOURDIEU-CASSAGNO, N., DELOIRE, M. S., VEKRIS, A., BIRAN, M., RAFFARD, G., BROCHET, B., CANRON, M. H., FRANCONI, J. M., BOIZIAU, C. & PETRY, K. G. 2011. Altered M1/M2 activation patterns of monocytes in severe relapsing experimental rat model of multiple sclerosis. Amelioration of clinical status by M2 activated monocyte administration. *Mult Scler*, 17, 2-15.
- MILICI, A. J., CARROLL, L. A., STUKENBROK, H. A., SHAY, A. K., GLADUE, R. P. & SHOWELL, H. J. 1998. Early eosinophil infiltration into the optic nerve of mice with experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *Lab Invest*, 78, 1239-44.
- MIZUNO, T., ZHANG, G., TAKEUCHI, H., KAWANOKUCHI, J., WANG, J., SONOBE, Y., JIN, S., TAKADA, N., KOMATSU, Y. & SUZUMURA, A. 2008. Interferon-gamma directly induces neurotoxicity through a neuron specific, calcium-permeable complex of IFN-gamma receptor and AMPA GluR1 receptor. *Faseb J*, 22, 1797-806.
- MONTALBAN, X., HAUSER, S. L., KAPPOS, L., ARNOLD, D. L., BAR-OR, A., COMI, G., DE SEZE, J., GIOVANNONI, G., HARTUNG, H. P., HEMMER, B., LUBLIN, F., RAMMOHAN, K. W., SELMAJ, K., TRABOULSEE, A., SAUTER, A., MASTERMAN, D., FONTOURA, P., BELACHEW, S., GARREN, H., MAIRON, N., CHIN, P. & WOLINSKY, J. S. 2017. Ocrelizumab versus Placebo in Primary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis. *N Engl J Med*, 376, 209-220.
- MORENO, M., BANNERMAN, P., MA, J., GUO, F., MIERS, L., SOULIKA, A. M. & PLEASURE, D. 2014. Conditional ablation of astroglial CCL2 suppresses CNS accumulation of M1 macrophages and preserves axons in mice with MOG peptide EAE. *J Neurosci,* 34, 8175-85.

- NAEGELE, M., TILLACK, K., REINHARDT, S., SCHIPPLING, S., MARTIN, R. & SOSPEDRA, M. 2012. Neutrophils in multiple sclerosis are characterized by a primed phenotype. *J Neuroimmunol*, 242, 60-71.
- NAKAGOME, K., DOHI, M., OKUNISHI, K., TANAKA, R., KOURO, T., KANO, M. R., MIYAZONO, K., MIYAZAKI, J., TAKATSU, K. & YAMAMOTO, K. 2007. IL-5-induced hypereosinophilia suppresses the antigen-induced immune response via a TGF-betadependent mechanism. *J Immunol*, 179, 284-94.
- NAPARSTEK, Y., BEN-NUN, A., HOLOSHITZ, J., RESHEF, T., FRENKEL, A., ROSENBERG, M. & COHEN, I. R. 1983. T lymphocyte lines producing or vaccinating against autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Functional activation induces peanut agglutinin receptors and accumulation in the brain and thymus of line cells. *Eur J Immunol*, 13, 418-23.
- NAVARRO, S., BOIX, E., CUCHILLO, C. M. & NOGUES, M. V. 2010. Eosinophil-induced neurotoxicity: the role of eosinophil cationic protein/RNase 3. *J Neuroimmunol,* 227, 60-70.
- NIKIC, I., MERKLER, D., SORBARA, C., BRINKOETTER, M., KREUTZFELDT, M., BAREYRE, F. M., BRUCK, W., BISHOP, D., MISGELD, T. & KERSCHENSTEINER, M. 2011. A reversible form of axon damage in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. *Nat Med*, 17, 495-9.
- NITSCH, R., POHL, E. E., SMORODCHENKO, A., INFANTE-DUARTE, C., AKTAS, O. & ZIPP, F. 2004. Direct impact of T cells on neurons revealed by two-photon microscopy in living brain tissue. *J Neurosci,* 24, 2458-64.
- O'CONNOR, R. A., MALPASS, K. H. & ANDERTON, S. M. 2007. The inflamed central nervous system drives the activation and rapid proliferation of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol,* 179, 958-66.
- O'DONNELL, M. C., ACKERMAN, S. J., GLEICH, G. J. & THOMAS, L. L. 1983. Activation of basophil and mast cell histamine release by eosinophil granule major basic protein. *J Exp Med*, 157, 1981-91.
- ODEMUYIWA, S. O., GHAHARY, A., LI, Y., PUTTAGUNTA, L., LEE, J. E., MUSAT-MARCU,
 S. & MOQBEL, R. 2004. Cutting edge: human eosinophils regulate T cell subset selection through indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. *J Immunol*, 173, 5909-13.
- OPENSHAW, H., STUVE, O., ANTEL, J. P., NASH, R., LUND, B. T., WEINER, L. P., KASHYAP, A., MCSWEENEY, P. & FORMAN, S. 2000. Multiple sclerosis flares associated with recombinant granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. *Neurology*, 54, 2147-50.

- PANITCH, H. S., HIRSCH, R. L., SCHINDLER, J. & JOHNSON, K. P. 1987. Treatment of multiple sclerosis with gamma interferon: exacerbations associated with activation of the immune system. *Neurology*, 37, 1097-102.
- PEASE, J. E. & WILLIAMS, T. J. 2013. *Editorial: are all eotaxins created equal?*, J Leukoc Biol. 2013 Aug;94(2):207-9. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0413189.
- PEELEN, E., DAMOISEAUX, J., SMOLDERS, J., KNIPPENBERG, S., MENHEERE, P., TERVAERT, J. W., HUPPERTS, R. & THEWISSEN, M. 2011. Th17 expansion in MS patients is counterbalanced by an expanded CD39+ regulatory T cell population during remission but not during relapse. *J Neuroimmunol*, 241, 97-103.
- PILIPONSKY, A. M., GLEICH, G. J., NAGLER, A., BAR, I. & LEVI-SCHAFFER, F. 2003. Non-IgE-dependent activation of human lung- and cord blood-derived mast cells is induced by eosinophil major basic protein and modulated by the membrane form of stem cell factor. *Blood*, 101, 1898-904.
- PITT, D., WERNER, P. & RAINE, C. S. 2000. Glutamate excitotoxicity in a model of multiple sclerosis. *Nat Med*, 6, 67-70.
- PONOMAREV, E. D., SHRIVER, L. P., MARESZ, K. & DITTEL, B. N. 2005. Microglial cell activation and proliferation precedes the onset of CNS autoimmunity. *J Neurosci Res*, 81, 374-89.
- PONOMAREV, E. D., VEREMEYKO, T., BARTENEVA, N., KRICHEVSKY, A. M. & WEINER,
 H. L. 2011. MicroRNA-124 promotes microglia quiescence and suppresses EAE by deactivating macrophages via the C/EBP-alpha-PU.1 pathway. *Nat Med*, 17, 64-70.
- POPE, S. M., ZIMMERMANN, N., STRINGER, K. F., KAROW, M. L. & ROTHENBERG, M.
 E. 2005. The eotaxin chemokines and CCR3 are fundamental regulators of allergeninduced pulmonary eosinophilia. *J Immunol*, 175, 5341-50.
- RANGACHARI, M. & KUCHROO, V. K. 2013. Using EAE to better understand principles of immune function and autoimmune pathology. *J Autoimmun*, 45, 31-9.
- REBOLDI, A., COISNE, C., BAUMJOHANN, D., BENVENUTO, F., BOTTINELLI, D., LIRA,
 S., UCCELLI, A., LANZAVECCHIA, A., ENGELHARDT, B. & SALLUSTO, F. 2009. C C chemokine receptor 6-regulated entry of TH-17 cells into the CNS through the
 choroid plexus is required for the initiation of EAE. *Nat Immunol*, 10, 514-23.
- RENNO, T., TAUPIN, V., BOURBONNIERE, L., VERGE, G., TRAN, E., DE SIMONE, R., KRAKOWSKI, M., RODRIGUEZ, M., PETERSON, A. & OWENS, T. 1998. Interferongamma in progression to chronic demyelination and neurological deficit following acute EAE. *Mol Cell Neurosci,* 12, 376-89.

- ROSENBERG, H. F. 1995. Recombinant human eosinophil cationic protein. Ribonuclease activity is not essential for cytotoxicity. *J Biol Chem*, 270, 7876-81.
- ROSENBERG, H. F., DYER, K. D. & FOSTER, P. S. 2013. Eosinophils: changing perspectives in health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol,* 13, 9-22.
- RUMBLE, J. M., HUBER, A. K., KRISHNAMOORTHY, G., SRINIVASAN, A., GILES, D. A., ZHANG, X., WANG, L. & SEGAL, B. M. 2015. Neutrophil-related factors as biomarkers in EAE and MS. J Exp Med, 212, 23-35.
- SCHATTLING, B., STEINBACH, K., THIES, E., KRUSE, M., MENIGOZ, A., UFER, F., FLOCKERZI, V., BRUCK, W., PONGS, O., VENNEKENS, R., KNEUSSEL, M., FREICHEL, M., MERKLER, D. & FRIESE, M. A. 2012. TRPM4 cation channel mediates axonal and neuronal degeneration in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. *Nat Med*, 18, 1805-11.
- SEAN RIMINTON, D., KORNER, H., STRICKLAND, D. H., LEMCKERT, F. A., POLLARD, J. D. & SEDGWICK, J. D. 1998. Challenging cytokine redundancy: inflammatory cell movement and clinical course of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis are normal in lymphotoxin-deficient, but not tumor necrosis factor-deficient, mice. J Exp Med, 187, 1517-28.
- SEGAL, B. M., CONSTANTINESCU, C. S., RAYCHAUDHURI, A., KIM, L., FIDELUS-GORT,
 R. & KASPER, L. H. 2008. Repeated subcutaneous injections of IL12/23 p40 neutralising antibody, ustekinumab, in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a phase II, double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomised, dose-ranging study. *Lancet Neurol*, 7, 796-804.
- SELMAJ, K., PAPIERZ, W., GLABINSKI, A. & KOHNO, T. 1995. Prevention of chronic relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor I. *J Neuroimmunol*, 56, 135-41.
- SHEN, P., ROCH, T., LAMPROPOULOU, V., O'CONNOR, R. A., STERVBO, U., HILGENBERG, E., RIES, S., DANG, V. D., JAIMES, Y., DARIDON, C., LI, R., JOUNEAU, L., BOUDINOT, P., WILANTRI, S., SAKWA, I., MIYAZAKI, Y., LEECH, M. D., MCPHERSON, R. C., WIRTZ, S., NEURATH, M., HOEHLIG, K., MEINL, E., GRUTZKAU, A., GRUN, J. R., HORN, K., KUHL, A. A., DORNER, T., BAR-OR, A., KAUFMANN, S. H., ANDERTON, S. M. & FILLATREAU, S. 2014. IL-35-producing B cells are critical regulators of immunity during autoimmune and infectious diseases. *Nature*, 507, 366-70.

- SHI, H. Z., HUMBLES, A., GERARD, C., JIN, Z. & WELLER, P. F. 2000. Lymph node trafficking and antigen presentation by endobronchial eosinophils. *J Clin Invest*, 105, 945-53.
- SKULINA, C., SCHMIDT, S., DORNMAIR, K., BABBE, H., ROERS, A., RAJEWSKY, K., WEKERLE, H., HOHLFELD, R. & GOEBELS, N. 2004. Multiple sclerosis: braininfiltrating CD8+ T cells persist as clonal expansions in the cerebrospinal fluid and blood. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101, 2428-33.
- SKURKOVICH, S., BOIKO, A., BELIAEVA, I., BUGLAK, A., ALEKSEEVA, T., SMIRNOVA, N., KULAKOVA, O., TCHECHONIN, V., GUROVA, O., DEOMINA, T., FAVOROVA, O. O., SKURKOVIC, B. & GUSEV, E. 2001. Randomized study of antibodies to IFN-gamma and TNF-alpha in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler,* 7, 277-84.
- SONG, D. J., CHO, J. Y., LEE, S. Y., MILLER, M., ROSENTHAL, P., SOROOSH, P., CROFT, M., ZHANG, M., VARKI, A. & BROIDE, D. H. 2009. Anti-Siglec-F antibody reduces allergen-induced eosinophilic inflammation and airway remodeling. *J Immunol,* 183, 5333-41.
- SORRENTINO, S., GLITZ, D. G., HAMANN, K. J., LOEGERING, D. A., CHECKEL, J. L. & GLEICH, G. J. 1992. Eosinophil-derived neurotoxin and human liver ribonuclease. Identity of structure and linkage of neurotoxicity to nuclease activity. *J Biol Chem*, 267, 14859-65.
- SRINIVASAN, R., SAILASUTA, N., HURD, R., NELSON, S. & PELLETIER, D. 2005. Evidence of elevated glutamate in multiple sclerosis using magnetic resonance spectroscopy at 3 T. *Brain*, 128, 1016-25.
- STEINBACH, K., PIEDAVENT, M., BAUER, S., NEUMANN, J. T. & FRIESE, M. A. 2013. Neutrophils amplify autoimmune central nervous system infiltrates by maturing local APCs. *J Immunol*, 191, 4531-9.
- STYS, P. K., ZAMPONI, G. W., VAN MINNEN, J. & GEURTS, J. J. 2012. Will the real multiple sclerosis please stand up? *Nat Rev Neurosci,* 13, 507-14.
- SUGAWARA, R., LEE, E. J., JANG, M. S., JEUN, E. J., HONG, C. P., KIM, J. H., PARK, A.,
 YUN, C. H., HONG, S. W., KIM, Y. M., SEOH, J. Y., JUNG, Y., SURH, C. D.,
 MIYASAKA, M., YANG, B. G. & JANG, M. H. 2016. Small intestinal eosinophils
 regulate Th17 cells by producing IL-1 receptor antagonist. *J Exp Med*, 213, 555-67.
- SUN, D., WHITAKER, J. N., HUANG, Z., LIU, D., COLECLOUGH, C., WEKERLE, H. & RAINE, C. S. 2001. Myelin antigen-specific CD8+ T cells are encephalitogenic and produce severe disease in C57BL/6 mice. *J Immunol*, 166, 7579-87.

- SUZUKI, M., KAWASAKI, H., MASAKI, K., SUZUKI, S. O., TERADA, T., TSUCHIDA, T., TOKUYAMA, T., KONO, S., KOMORI, T., BABA, S., KIRA, J. & MIYAJIMA, H. 2013. An autopsy case of the Marburg variant of multiple sclerosis (acute multiple sclerosis). *Intern Med*, 52, 1825-32.
- VENKEN, K., HELLINGS, N., THEWISSEN, M., SOMERS, V., HENSEN, K., RUMMENS, J. L., MEDAER, R., HUPPERTS, R. & STINISSEN, P. 2008. Compromised CD4+ CD25(high) regulatory T-cell function in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis is correlated with a reduced frequency of FOXP3-positive cells and reduced FOXP3 expression at the single-cell level. *Immunology*, 123, 79-89.
- VIGLIETTA, V., BAECHER-ALLAN, C., WEINER, H. L. & HAFLER, D. A. 2004. Loss of functional suppression by CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Exp Med*, 199, 971-9.
- VOEHRINGER, D., VAN ROOIJEN, N. & LOCKSLEY, R. M. 2007. Eosinophils develop in distinct stages and are recruited to peripheral sites by alternatively activated macrophages. *J Leukoc Biol*, 81, 1434-44.
- WANG, H. B., GHIRAN, I., MATTHAEI, K. & WELLER, P. F. 2007a. Airway eosinophils: allergic inflammation recruited professional antigen-presenting cells. *J Immunol*, 179, 7585-92.
- WANG, Y. H., ANGKASEKWINAI, P., LU, N., VOO, K. S., ARIMA, K., HANABUCHI, S., HIPPE, A., CORRIGAN, C. J., DONG, C., HOMEY, B., YAO, Z., YING, S., HUSTON, D. P. & LIU, Y. J. 2007b. IL-25 augments type 2 immune responses by enhancing the expansion and functions of TSLP-DC-activated Th2 memory cells. *J Exp Med*, 204, 1837-47.
- WEBER, M. S., PROD'HOMME, T., PATARROYO, J. C., MOLNARFI, N., KARNEZIS, T., LEHMANN-HORN, K., DANILENKO, D. M., EASTHAM-ANDERSON, J., SLAVIN, A.
 J., LININGTON, C., BERNARD, C. C., MARTIN, F. & ZAMVIL, S. S. 2010. B-cell activation influences T-cell polarization and outcome of anti-CD20 B-cell depletion in central nervous system autoimmunity. *Ann Neurol*, 68, 369-83.
- WEIR, C., BERNARD, C. C. & BACKSTROM, B. T. 2003. IL-5-deficient mice are susceptible to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Int Immunol*, 15, 1283-9.
- WELLER, P. F., RAND, T. H., BARRETT, T., ELOVIC, A., WONG, D. T. & FINBERG, R. W.
 1993. Accessory cell function of human eosinophils. HLA-DR-dependent, MHC-restricted antigen-presentation and IL-1 alpha expression. *J Immunol*, 150, 2554-62.
- WILLENBORG, D. O., FORDHAM, S., BERNARD, C. C., COWDEN, W. B. & RAMSHAW, I. A. 1996. IFN-gamma plays a critical down-regulatory role in the induction and effector

phase of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-induced autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol*, 157, 3223-7.

- WLODARCZYK, A., CEDILE, O., JENSEN, K. N., JASSON, A., MONY, J. T., KHOROOSHI,
 R. & OWENS, T. 2015. Pathologic and Protective Roles for Microglial Subsets and
 Bone Marrow- and Blood-Derived Myeloid Cells in Central Nervous System
 Inflammation. *Front Immunol*, 6.
- WOLF, S. D., DITTEL, B. N., HARDARDOTTIR, F. & JANEWAY, C. A., JR. 1996. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis induction in genetically B cell-deficient mice. J Exp Med, 184, 2271-8.
- WU, W. F., TAN, X. J., DAI, Y. B., KRISHNAN, V., WARNER, M. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A.
 2013. Targeting estrogen receptor beta in microglia and T cells to treat experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110, 3543-8.
- YAMASAKI, R., LU, H., BUTOVSKY, O., OHNO, N., RIETSCH, A. M., CIALIC, R., WU, P. M., DOYKAN, C. E., LIN, J., COTLEUR, A. C., KIDD, G., ZORLU, M. M., SUN, N., HU, W., LIU, L., LEE, J. C., TAYLOR, S. E., UEHLEIN, L., DIXON, D., GU, J., FLORUTA, C. M., ZHU, M., CHARO, I. F., WEINER, H. L. & RANSOHOFF, R. M. 2014. Differential roles of microglia and monocytes in the inflamed central nervous system. *J Exp Med*, 211, 1533-49.
- YANG, D., CHEN, Q., SU, S. B., ZHANG, P., KUROSAKA, K., CASPI, R. R., MICHALEK, S. M., ROSENBERG, H. F., ZHANG, N. & OPPENHEIM, J. J. 2008. Eosinophil-derived neurotoxin acts as an alarmin to activate the TLR2-MyD88 signal pathway in dendritic cells and enhances Th2 immune responses. *J Exp Med*, 205, 79-90.
- YANG, D., ROSENBERG, H. F., CHEN, Q., DYER, K. D., KUROSAKA, K. & OPPENHEIM,J. J. 2003. Eosinophil-derived neurotoxin (EDN), an antimicrobial protein with chemotactic activities for dendritic cells. *Blood*, 102, 3396-403.
- YU, C., CANTOR, A. B., YANG, H., BROWNE, C., WELLS, R. A., FUJIWARA, Y. & ORKIN,
 S. H. 2002. Targeted deletion of a high-affinity GATA-binding site in the GATA-1 promoter leads to selective loss of the eosinophil lineage in vivo. *J Exp Med*, 195, 1387-95.
- ZHANG, H. & VERKMAN, A. S. 2013. Eosinophil pathogenicity mechanisms and therapeutics in neuromyelitis optica. *J Clin Invest*, 123, 2306-16.
- ZIABER, J., PASNIK, J., BAJ, Z., POKOCA, L., CHMIELEWSKI, H. & TCHORZEWSKI, H. 1998. The immunoregulatory abilities of polymorphonuclear neutrophils in the course of multiple sclerosis. *Mediators Inflamm*, 7, 335-8.

6 Declarations

Appendix 1

Technical University Dresden Medical Faculty Carl Gustav Carus Doctorate regulations, 2011/07/24

Declarations for the opening of the doctoral examination procedures

- I herewith declare, that I prepared this thesis without prohibited assistance of a third party and without making use of aids other than those specified; notions obtained directly or indirectly from other sources are indentified as such.
- The following persons supported me in material selection and evaluation as well as in preparation of the manuscript:
 - Ales Neuwirth, Institute for Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany
 - Jong-Hyung Lim, Institute for Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany
 - Georgia Fodelianaki, Institute for Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany
 - Triantafyllos Chavakis, Institute for Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany
- No further persons were involved in the generation of this work. Particularly, I did not get help of a commercial doctoral adviser. Third parties did not directly or indirectly receive monetary values for work related to contents of this thesis.
- 4. This paper has not been previously presented in identical or similar manner to any other German or foreign association board.

- 5. The contents and data of this thesis have not been published elsewhere yet
- 6. I declare not to have undertaken any previous unsuccessful doctoral examination procedures.
- I declare to recognize the doctorate regulations of the Faculty of Medicine of the Dresden University of Technology.
- I noticed and followed the doctorate citation guidelines of the Faculty of Medicine of the Dresden University of Technology.

Dresden, 2017

Klara Ruppova
I herewith declare, that all work in this thesis was performed according to the current legal specifications.

- Approval of the Ethics Committee for clinical studies, epidemiological studies referring to individuals or situations, which concern the Medicinal Devices Act.
 Project's file number of the responsible Ethics Committee: Not applicable
- Conformance with regulations of the Protection of Animals Act Project's file numbers of the approving authority: DD24-5131/207/14 TVV 2014/13
- Conformance with the Genetic Engineering Act Reference numbers: 56-8811.72/1/39 21.11.2002
- Accordance with the regulations of data protection of the Faculty of Medicine of the Dresden University of Technology.

Dresden, 2017

Klara Ruppova

7 Acknowledgements

Firstly, I want to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Triantafyllos Chavakis. I would like to thank him for his scientific mentoring during my PhD study, especially for the support of my research project. His patient guidance, experience and great knowledge helped me to successfully complete my PhD project. Also I thank him for his helpful advice on writing the PhD thesis.

Besides my supervisor, I would like to thank Dr. Ales Neuwirth who helped me a lot with both, theoretical and technical obstacles during my PhD project. His experience often helped to solve seemingly insoluble issues. I also thank him for many fruitful discussions about both, scientific and non-scientific topics..

I thank all of the lab members for the stimulating scientific discussions and collaborations but also for creating very friendly atmosphere in the lab, for very relaxing lunch breaks and for all the fun we had together inside and also outside of the lab.

I thank the PhD program Endothelium in Health and Disease for organizing interesting lectures and PhD retreats. Namely, I want thank the head of program Prof. Morawietz and the coordinator Dr. Parshyna.

I would also like to thank Prof. El-Armouche for reviewing my PhD thesis.

Finally, my huge thanks belong to my family and friends who always supported me during my PhD study. Especially, I thank my husband Daniel who was the biggest support to me, always respected my decisions and made my day better when I came home after an unsuccessful experiment.